

REPORT GEOTECHNICAL EXPLORATION Northern Crossing West Southeast Corner of the Intersection of Interstate 35W & Loop 820 North Fort Worth, Texas

Prepared for:

Northern Crossing West Business Park, LLC c/o TIG Real Estate Services, Inc. 5050 Quorum Drive, Suite 400 Dallas, Texas 75254 & ING Clarion Partners 230 Park Avenue, 12th Floor New York, New York 10169 & Wrightwood Capital Lenders LP, its successors, assigns and affiliates Two North La Salle Street, 9th Floor

Chicago, Illinois 60602

Prepared by: ATC Associates Inc. 1555 Valwood Parkway, Suite 160 Carrollton, Texas 75006

ATC Project No.: 74.27982.0001 January 5, 2007



1555 Valwood Parkway, Suite 160 Carrollton, TX 75006 www.atcassociates.com 972-919-3300 Fax 972-919-3395

Via e-mail: <u>AMcAfee@tigusa.com</u> <u>Alex.Mitzner@ingclarion.com</u>

January 5, 2007

Ms. Allison R. McAfee TIG Real Estate Services, Inc. 5050 Quorum Drive, Suite 400 Dallas, Texas 75254 & Mr. Alex K. Mitzner ING Clarion Partners 230 Park Avenue, 12th Floor New York, New York 10169

Re: Report

Preliminary Geotechnical Exploration Northern Crossing West Southeast Corner of the Intersection of Interstate 35W & Loop 820 North Fort Worth, Texas ATC Project No. 74.27982.0001

Dear Ms. McAfee & Mr. Mitzner:

ATC Associates Inc. (ATC) is pleased to present this Preliminary Geotechnical Exploration report for the proposed Northern Crossing West development situated at the southeast corner of the intersection of Interstate 35W and Loop 820 North in Fort Worth, Texas. ATC's services were provided in general accordance with the scope of work defined in the *Professional Services Agreement* between ATC and TIG Real Estate Services, Inc. and in accordance with the scope of work outlined in ATC Proposal No. 74EM.2006.0223, dated November 14, 2006 and accepted by TIG on November 14, 2006.

ATC appreciates this opportunity to provide these services Please contact us if you have any questions or require additional information.

Sincerely, ATC ASSOCIATES INC.

Sal M. Gazioglu, P.E. Principal Engineer

6.1

Joseph Schold, P.E. Principal Engineer



The seal appearing on this document was authorized by Sal M. Gazioglu, P.E. 64097 on January 5, 2007.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u> </u>	'age
EXECU	JTIVE S	SUMMARY	iv
10	INTRO	DUCTION	1
1.0			1
	1.1	GENERAL	1
	1.2	PURPOSE OF EXPLORATION	1
	1.3	PROJECT INFORMATION	2
	1.4	REPORT	3
2.0	SITE A	ND SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS	4
	2.1	SITE CONDITIONS	4
	2.2	GEOLOGY	4
	2.3	SOILS	5
	2.4	FIELD EXPLORATION	6
		2.4.1 General	6
		2.4.2 DRILLING AND SAMPLING	6
	2.5	LABORATORY TESTING	7
	2.4	SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS	7
	2.5	GROUNDWATER CONDITIONS	8
3.0	FOUN	DATION EVALUATION	9
	31	GENERAL	9
	3.1	BEARING CAPACITY	9
	33	FOUNDATION MOVEMENT	9
	5.5	3 3 1 VERTICAL MOVEMENTS	9
		3 3 2 SETTI EMENTS	10
		3.3.3 DIFFERENTIAL MOVEMENTS.	.10
		3.3.4 FOUNDATION TYPE	.10
		3.3.5 MOISTURE CONDITIONING	.10
		3.3.6 SURFACE DRAINAGE	.12
4.0	FOUN	DATION DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS	.13
	4.1	FOUNDATION RECOMMENDATIONS	.13
		4.1.1 DRILLED SHAFT OR PIER FOUNDATION	.13
		4.1.2 STIFFENED SLAB FOUNDATION SYSTEM	.15
	4.2	FLOOR SLAB DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS	. 15
		4.2.1 GENERAL	.15
		4.2.2 SUSPENDED FLOOR SLAB	.16
		4.2.3 SLAB-ON-GRADE FLOOR SLAB	. 16
	4.3	LATERAL EARTH PRESSURES	.16
	4.4	PAVEMENT DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS	. 18
		4.4.1 GENERAL	.18
		4.4.2 PAVEMENT SECTIONS	.18
		4.4.3 PAVEMENT MATERIALS	.18
	4.4.4	PAVEMENT SUBGRADE	.19
	4.4.5	PAVEMENT CONSIDERATIONS	.19



5.0	EAR	THWORK GUIDELINES	
	5.1	SITE GRADING AND DRAINAGE	20
	5.2	PAVEMENT AREA SUBGRADE PREPARATION AND FILL PLACEMENT	20
	5.3	FIELD SUPERVISION AND DENSITY TESTING	20
6.0	BAS	IS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS	

FIGURES

FIGURE 1 – VICINITY MAP FIGURE 2 – TOPOGRPAHIC MAP FIGURE 3 – AERIAL MAP FIGURE 4 – PLAN OF BORINGS

APPENDIX

APPENDIX A – LOGS OF BORINGS



RELIANCE

This report is for the use and benefit of, and may be relied upon by Northern Crossing West Business Park, LLC, TIG Real Estate Services, Inc., ING Clarion Partners, and its affiliates and Wrightwood Capital Lenders LP, its successors, assigns and affiliates, and third parties authorized in writing by TIG Real Estate Services, Inc., ING Clarion Partners and ATC, including the lender(s) in connection with a secured financing of the property, and their respective successors and assigns. Any third party agrees by accepting this report that any use or reliance on this report shall be limited by the exceptions and limitations in this report, and with the acknowledgment that actual site conditions may change with time, and that hidden conditions may exist at the property that were not discovered within the authorized scope of the assessment. Any use by or distribution of this report to third parties, without the express written consent of ATC, is at the sole risk and expense of such third party.

ATC makes no other representation to any third party except that it has used the degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised by environmental consultants in the preparation of the report and in the assembling of data and information related thereto. No other warranties are made to any third party, either expressed or implied. Unless otherwise agreed upon in writing by ATC and a third party, ATC's liability to any third party authorized to use or rely on this report with respect to any acts or omissions shall be limited to a total maximum amount of \$100,000.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

TIG Real Estate Services, Inc. (TIG) retained ATC Associates Inc. (ATC) to perform a preliminary geotechnical exploration to develop foundation and construction related recommendations at a property referred to as "Northern Crossing West" (the site) in Fort Worth, Texas. The site consists of approximately 115 acres of undeveloped land situated at the southeast corner of the intersection of Interstate 35W and Loop 820 North in north Fort Worth, Texas. TIG is planning to acquire the property for development with several warehouse and distribution center type buildings.

The purposes of the geotechnical exploration were to (1) evaluate the subsurface conditions at the site, (2) develop geotechnical parameters for preliminary design of the foundations and (3) provide construction recommendations for the proposed buildings, appurtenant structures and site preparation and development. A brief summary of ATC's recommendations and considerations pertinent to the design and construction of the project are presented below. This executive summary should be read in context with the entire report.

Subsurface Conditions

A field exploration was conducted at the site between November 15 and 18, 2006. Subsurface conditions beneath the site were explored by drilling twenty (20) borings throughout the site. Borings were generally advanced to a depth of approximately 25 feet below the existing ground surface for a total of approximately 470 feet of drilling. Subsurface conditions encountered beneath the paving in the borings are described as follows:

- **§** <u>*Top Soil*</u>: A thin veneer of top soil covers the site to a depth of approximately one foot, except in the areas where fill exists. Top soil is characterized as dark brown, medium stiff to stiff clay (CH) with organics consisting of roots.
- § <u>Fill Clay Layer:</u> A fill layer consisting of clay is encountered in Borings B-4, B-5, B-6, B-7, B-8, B-9, and B-10 from the surface to a maximum depth of approximately 4.0 feet. This fill layer is characterized as brown sandy clay (CH).
- § <u>*Clay Layer:*</u> A clay layer exists beneath the top soil and the fill materials to a depth of approximately 13 to 22 feet. This clay layer is characterized as dark brown, medium stiff to hard clay (CH) with abundant limestone nodules and occasional rust to red coloration. Occasional limestone and shale seams and bentonite seams were also encountered in this layer.
- **§** <u>*Weathered Limestone:*</u> Beneath this clay layer, a thin layer of weathered limestone was encountered in the borings overlying gray limestone. This layer is characterized as tan to gray weathered limestone.
- **§** <u>*Limestone:*</u> A limestone layer is encountered from depths of 16 to 22 feet to the bottom of borings. This limestone layer is characterized as gray and hard.

Foundation Evaluation

In general, subsurface soils are adequate to support the proposed buildings at the site, which are expected to be light to medium loaded foundations with respect to net bearing pressures. Results of this exploration indicate that the subsurface soils are suitable for foundation support; however, due to the shrink/swell



potential of the subsurface soils, exterior walls and heavily loaded columns should be supported on drilled shaft foundations.

Soil conditions and plasticity characteristics of the subsurface materials at this site is variable. Plasticity indices of the near-subsurface materials encountered at the site indicate a high shrink/swell potential. Estimates of the soil swell at the site were evaluated using the Potential Vertical Rise (PVR) method. Based on the existing moisture conditions with average liquid limit (LL) and plasticity index (PI) of the soils, a typical PVR value of approximately 3 to 3.5 inches should be expected for an active zone of approximately 15 feet.

To limit the vertical movements to one inch or less in the building areas, subsurface soils must be treated prior to construction of building pads. Several treatment methods are available and include:

- **§** Moisture conditioning of subsurface soils by excavation and replacement;
- **§** Moisture conditioning of subsurface soils by water injection, lime injection, or chemical injection methods; and
- **§** Excavation and replacement with select fill materials.

Significant settlements are not expected for the foundations bearing on the hard natural site soils. Some fill materials were noted on the borings near the surface at the site. Settlements and differential settlements can occur on foundations bearing on fill material that has not been placed properly, which cause cosmetic cracking and/or distortions of the building.

Based on the potential swell of the soils at the site, some differential movements should be expected. Any differential movement can result in minor cracks of the floor slabs and walls, warped and sticking doors, and other operational and cosmetic problems that may require frequent maintenance and/or repairs. Large glass windows, large stucco and/or masonry walls as well as exposed concrete floors and floor tiles will be susceptible to differential movements.

Foundation Design Recommendations

ATC has developed preliminary foundation design recommendations on the basis of the subsurface conditions encountered during this field exploration. Subsurface data obtained from the borings was evaluated utilizing correlations between the strength test values and engineering performance characteristics of similar soils.

§ Drilled Shaft or Pier Foundations: Exterior walls or interior columns carrying significant loads may require drilled shaft or pier foundations. Based on an evaluation of subsurface soil conditions, drilled shafts or piers bearing in gray limestone are recommended for support of the building. The design values are based on a dry excavation into the gray limestone. The drilled shafts should be embedded at least 5 feet into gray limestone to develop the recommended end bearing resistance values. Recommended end bearing design value should be used as 40,000 pounds for square foot (PSF) for piers bearing in gray limestone.



§ Stiffened Slab Foundations: A stiffened slab foundation system consisting of a post-tensioned or conventionally-reinforced slab may also be used for lightly-loaded structures designed by a structural engineer to withstand the estimated vertical soil movements. Grade beams founded in the native soils and/or in compacted fill, are recommended for design using a maximum net allowable soil bearing resistance of 2,000 PSF. A grade beam with a minimum width of 10 inches is recommended to provide a margin of safety against a local or punching shear failure of the foundation soils.

Floor Slab Design Recommendations

Based on estimated PVR values, a suspended structural slab is recommended, if floor slab movements are to be limited to less than 0.5 inches. Structurally supported floor slab over at least a 7-inch void is recommended between the bottom of the floor slab and the subgrade to prevent contact with the swelling clay soils.

A slab-on-grade floor slab is recommended, if floor slab movements up to one inch or less can be tolerated. To reduce potential subgrade movements to be less than one inch, subgrade treatment prior to the construction of slab-on-grade floors of the buildings. Floor slabs can be designed as a conventional slab-on-grade with a modulus of subgrade reaction of 150 pounds per square inch (PCI).

Pavement Design Recommendations

Traffic loading is assumed to be limited to automobile traffic only (light duty pavement section) and that the drives would be subject to both automobile and occasional medium to heavy truck traffic (medium duty pavement section). Recommended pavement sections for rigid pavement should be 5-inch thick concrete pavement for light duty and 6 inch thick pavement for medium duty. Prior to the placement of the concrete section, a minimum of 6 inches of subgrade should be lime stabilized and compacted. A minimum 7-inch thick concrete is recommended for the dumpster pad and the area in front of the dumpster and fire lanes.

Site Preparation, Grading and Drainage

Proper grading should be provided to positively drain water away from the building and prevent water from collecting or discharging near the foundations. Water must not be permitted to pond adjacent to the building during or after construction. Surface drainage gradients should be designed to divert surface water away from the building and edges of pavements. Surface drainage gradients within 10 feet of the building should be constructed with 2 percent slope.



1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 GENERAL

TIG Real Estate Services, Inc. (TIG) retained ATC Associates Inc. (ATC) to perform a preliminary geotechnical exploration to develop foundation and construction related recommendations at a property referred to as "Northern Crossing West" (the site) in Fort Worth, Texas. The site consists of approximately 115 acres of undeveloped land situated at the southeast corner of the intersection of Interstate 35W and Loop 820 North in Fort Worth, Texas, as shown in Figure 1. TIG is planning to acquire the property for development with several warehouse and distribution center type buildings.

ATC's services were provided in accordance with the *Professional Services Agreement* between ATC and TIG Real Estate Services, Inc. and in accordance with ATC Proposal No. 74EM.2006.0223, dated November 14, 2006 and accepted by TIG Real Estate Services, Inc. on November 14, 2006.

1.2 PURPOSE OF EXPLORATION

The purposes of the geotechnical exploration were to (1) evaluate the subsurface conditions at the site, (2) develop geotechnical parameters for the design of the foundations and (3) provide construction recommendations for the proposed buildings, appurtenant structures and site preparation and development.

The scope of services for geotechnical investigations included the following:

- **§** Drilling of twenty (20) borings to a depth of approximately 25 feet throughout the site to evaluate the nature and stratigraphy of in-situ soils and obtain relatively undisturbed soil samples for laboratory testing;
- **§** Sampling cohesive soils using Shelby Tube samplers;
- **§** Sampling granular soils and rock using Texas Highway Department (TDH) samplers;
- **§** Visually classifying the soils;
- **§** Measuring the depth of the groundwater in the borings;
- **§** Conducting laboratory testing of soil samples for evaluation of their properties; and
- **§** Performing engineering analyses to develop geotechnical parameters for design of foundations, related earthwork, site grading and preparation for the proposed development.

No environmental assessment or investigation for the presence or absence of hazardous or toxic materials in the soil, groundwater or surface water within or beyond the site was conducted as part of the scope of work. Any statements in this report regarding staining of soils, or other unusual conditions are strictly for the information of TIG.



1.3 PROJECT INFORMATION

The property, referred to as the Northern Crossing West, is located at the southeast corner of the intersection of Loop 820 and Interstate 35W in Fort Worth, Texas. The property consists of approximately 115 acres of undeveloped (vacant) land. Furthermore, ATC understands that approximately 39 acres of land will be allocated for re-sale without development. GD&A has developed a preliminary master plan that was provided to ATC for review and selection of the boring locations. ATC reviewed this preliminary layout and picked some of the boring locations within the footprint of the proposed buildings.

According to the preliminary layout out boring provided by GD&A, the proposed development at the site will include the design and construction of several shell buildings as follows:

- **§** <u>Construction to start in February 2007:</u>
 - 1) Building A with approximate dimensions of 135 feet by 1,000 feet or approximately 135,000 square feet (SF) on a lot size of approximately 362,419 SF;
 - 2) Building B with approximate dimensions of 387.5 feet by 400 feet or approximately 116,250 SF on a lot size of approximately 290,625 SF; and
 - 3) Building C with approximate dimensions of 210 feet by 300 feet or approximately 63,000 SF on a lot size of approximately 150,172 SF.
- **§** <u>Construction to start in August 2007:</u>
 - 1) Building D with approximate dimensions of 128 feet by 720 feet or approximately 92,000 square feet (SF) on a lot size of approximately 285,200 SF;
 - 2) Building E with approximate dimensions of 160 feet by 500 feet or approximately 80,000 SF on a lot size of approximately 202,337 SF; and
 - 3) Building F with approximate dimensions of 200 feet by 525 feet or approximately 105,000 SF on a lot size of approximately 265,062 SF.
- § Construction to start in August 2008:
 - 1) Building G with approximate dimensions of 150 feet by 500 feet or approximately 75,000 square feet (SF) on a lot size of approximately 226,250 SF; and
 - 2) Building H with approximate dimensions of 135 feet by 175 feet or approximately 64,150 SF on a lot size of approximately 200,202 SF.

In addition, four parcels of land have been allocated for re-sale without development as follows:

- § 15.32 acres along the northern periphery of the site;
- **§** 13.85 acres along the northwestern periphery of the site;
- § 5.20 acres along the western periphery of the site; and
- **§** 4.85 acres along the southern periphery of the site adjacent to the mitigation and detention area.

Other features at the site will include dedication of approximately 14.50 acres of land for wetland mitigation and detention basin in a low lying area in the southern portion. Some of the existing drainage features at the



site will have to be filled and/or re-directed in order to allow for development. Access roadways and parking lots along with landscaping will comprise the remainder of the site.

No other design information was provided.

1.4 REPORT

ATC prepared this report to provide the results of the geotechnical exploration conducted at the site, laboratory testing, engineering analyses, and foundation and site preparation recommendations for design of the proposed building and relevant structures. The report includes the following:

- **§** Results of the field exploration and laboratory testing, including a brief summary of the field drilling and laboratory test procedures;
- **§** A summary of surface and subsurface soil and ground water conditions encountered in the borings, including an evaluation of the site to support the proposed retail building; and
- **§** Engineering recommendations for building foundation design and pavement, and general grading and site preparation recommendations.

Results of the field exploration are presented in Appendix A in the Logs of Borings.



2.0 SITE AND SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS

2.1 SITE CONDITIONS

The Site is undeveloped vacant land that is platted with multiple addresses, including 2600, 2601, 2720, 2751, 2900, 2901, 3051 Northern Cross Boulevard, 2600, 2700, 2800, 2900, 2950, 3000, 3100 Northeast Loop 820, 5000 North Freeway and 5050 North Sylvania Avenue, Fort Worth, Tarrant County, Texas. According to information obtained from Tarrant Appraisal District, the property is identified as "Northern Crossing West, Block 1, Lot 1", "Northern Crossing West, Block 1, Lot2", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 1", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 2", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 3", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 4", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 5", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 6", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 7", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 8", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 5", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 8", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 5", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 6", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 7", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 8", "Northern Crossing West, Block 3, Lot 1", "Northern Crossing West, Block 3, Lot 12", "Northern Crossing West, Block 3, Lot 11", "Northern Crossing West, Block 2, Lot 9", "Northern Crossing West, Block 3, Lot 11", "Northern Crossing West, Block 3, Lot 12", "Northern Crossing West, Block 3, Lot 16" and "Northern Crossing West, Block 3, Lot 17".

The site is located on the United States Geological Survey (USGS) <u>7.5 Minute Series Haltom City, Texas,</u> <u>Topographic Quadrangle</u>, dated 1955 and photo revised in 1981. Topography at the site gently slopes towards south with elevations ranging from approximately 615 to 635 feet above Mean Sea Level (MSL). A copy of the topographic map is included in Figure 2. Figure 3 also shows an aerial map of the site.

According to information presented on the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) Community Panel No. 48439C0285J (dated August 23, 2000), the site is located in Zone A, Zone AE and Zone X. Zone X is an area determined to be outside of the 100 and 500-year flood plains. Zone A and Zone AE are areas that are determined to be within the 100-year flood plain.

Based on review of the U.S. Department of the Interior, Fish & Wildlife Service's National Wetland Inventory Map, Haltom City, Texas Quadrangle, dated 1981, there are two designated wetlands located at the site or immediately bordering the site. These wetlands are classified as PUBHh, [P] Palustrine, [UB] Unconsolidated Bottom, [H] Permanently Flooded, [h] Diked/Impounded and PUSCh, [P] Palustrine, [US] Unconsolidated Shore, [C] Seasonally Flooded, [h] Diked/Impounded.

2.2 GEOLOGY

According to the <u>Geologic Atlas of Texas, Dallas Sheet</u>, produced by the University of Texas at Austin, Bureau of Economic Geology, dated 1987, the site is located in an area underlain by the Lower Cretaceousaged Pawpaw Formation, Weno Limestone, and Denton Clay undivided (Kpd). The Pawpaw Formation consists of claystone, mudstone, and sandstone and contains marine megafossils. The claystone and mudstone layers are massive and slightly selenitic. The sandstone is fine to very fine-grained light olive gray to medium gray, is platy, and exhibits ripple cross-laminations. The Pawpaw Formation typically forms grass-covered slopes.



The Weno Limestone consists of limestone in the upper unit, alternating clay and limestone in **h**e middle unit, and limestone in the lower unit. The upper limestone is microcrystalline, in part bioclastic, and massive. It ranges from soft and chalky to hard and compact. This unit weathers gray and yellowish brown and forms a topographic bench. The thickness is 2 to 20 feet. The middle unit is 15- to 45-feet thick, and consists of massive calcareous clay with some lenses of sand-sized shell debris, as well as oyster and pelecypod fossils. The lower unit is sandy, fossiliferous, microcrystalline Imestone that is massive and between 1- and 5-feet thick. The total thickness of the Weno Limestone is approximately 60 feet.

The Denton Clay consists of alternating clay, marl, and limestone. The clay is calcareous, contains Anomia and Gryphaea megafossils and pelecypod molds. The clay layers tend to be 1- to 3-feet thick. The marl is calcareous clay to soft microcrystalline argillaceous limestone. The limestone is microcrystalline and contains Gryphaea, Pecten, and Anomia megafossils. Gryphaea-bearing beds 0.1- to 0.6-feet thick are present in the limestone layer. The thickness of the Denton Clay is 6 to 25 feet.

According to the Aquifers of Texas Report 345, dated November 1995, the site is underlain by the Trinity Aquifer. The Trinity Aquifer consists of the early Cretaceous age Paluxy, Glen Rose, and Twin Mountains-Travis Peak formations, which extend from the Red River to the Hill Country of south central Texas. Extensive historical development of the Trinity Aquifer in the Dallas-Fort Worth region has caused the water level to drop as much as 550 feet. Since the mid-1970s, many public water supply wells have been abandoned, and surface water is currently the primary water source for the area. Groundwater depths in the general area range from 10 to 20 feet below ground surface. Perched groundwater may sometimes be found at shallower depths but does not generally represent a significant source of water.

2.3 SOILS

According to the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Soil Conservation Service (SCS) <u>Soil</u> <u>Survey of Tarrant County, Texas (1981)</u>, native soils at the site belong to the Slidell clay with 1 to 3 percent slopes and the Sanger clay with 1 to 3 percent slopes.

The Slidell clay is a deep, gently sloping, clayey soil is in valley fill areas along drainage ways. This soil is well drained. Permeability is very slow, and available water capacity is high. Surface runoff is medium, and the hazard of erosion is moderate. Included with this soil in mapping are small areas of Sanger and San Saba soils. These closely similar soils make up as much as 15 percent of some mapped areas.

The Sanger clay is a deep, gently sloping, clayey soil is in valley fill areas between limestone ridges. This soil is well drained. Permeability is very slow, and available water capacity is high. Runoff is medium, and the hazard of erosion is moderate. Included with this soil in mapping are small areas of Ponder soils on slight ridges, San Saba soils near the head of drainage ways and Slidell soils on foot slopes. These included soils make up less than 15 percent of any mapped area.



2.4 FIELD EXPLORATION

2.4.1 General

A field exploration was conducted at the site between November 15 and 18, 2006. ATC retained the services of Elite Drilling Services of Texas to drill the borings and collect soil samples for testing in a geotechnical laboratory. ATC provided an engineering technician to supervise the drilling of the borings and collection of soil samples.

Boring locations were selected based on the preliminary master plan provided by GS&A with emphasis given to the proposed buildings. Each boring was staked at the site by measuring distances from known site features with a calibrated wheel. Boring locations were not surveyed; however, elevations were estimated from the preliminary master plan drawing.

Subsurface conditions beneath the site were explored by drilling twenty (20) borings at the locations shown in Figure 4. Borings were generally advanced to a depth of approximately 25 feet below the existing ground surface for a total of approximately 470 feet of drilling.

2.4.2 Drilling and Sampling

Borings were advanced with a truck-mounted drilling rig using solid fight auger drilling procedures with samples obtained using thin wall Shelby tube to the boring completion depth. Soil sampling was performed in general accordance with ASTM D1587, titled <u>"Standard Practice for Thin-Walled Tube Sampling of Soils for Geotechnical Purposes"</u>. Standard Penetration Tests (SPT) were also performed in granular soils and rock in accordance with ASTM D 1586, titled <u>"Standard Practice for Standard Penetration Tests"</u>. In addition, a Texas Department of Highways (TDH) penetration cone was conducted in rock to assess the competency of the rock.

Cohesive samples were recovered by hydraulically pushing a 3-inch diameter thin-walled Shelby tube. Samples were obtained continuously from the surface to depths of 10 feet and then at intervals of about five feet thereafter to the boring termination depth. Representative portions of these soil/rock samples were sealed in plastic bags, labeled, and transferred to a local geotechnical laboratory for classification and testing.

Borings were logged by an ATC engineering technician using the Unified Soil Classification System (USCS) in accordance with ASTM D2487, titled <u>"Classification of Soils for Engineering Purposes.</u>" A calibrated pocket penetrometer was used to estimate undrained compressive strength of soils in the filed and aid in classification of soils. Each field boring log was reviewed by a senior geotechnical engineer in the ATC Dallas office and edited based on the examination of soil samples and the results of laboratory tests. The Logs of Borings are presented in Appendix A.

Each boring log represent ATC's interpretations of the subsurface conditions based on the field observations, a visual examination of samples by a geotechnical engineer, and correction made using the results of laboratory tests performed on selected samples. Lines designating the interface between various



strata on the boring logs represent the approximate positions of the interface. The actual transitionbetween strata may be gradual.

Borings were advanced without the use of the drilling fluids. During drilling and at completion of each boring, groundwater conditions were noted on the drilling tools and measured with a weighted measuring tape. Most of the borings were dry; however, some borings indicated the presence of groundwater at depths ranging from 18 to 22 feet based on the field observations at the time of ATC's exploration on November 15 through 18, 2006. Upon completion of the drilling, borings were backfilled with the soil drill cuttings.

2.5 LABORATORY TESTING

Selected soil samples were subjected to geotechnical testing in the laboratory in order to verify the visual classifications in the field by conducting index tests. Soil samples were transported to the ATC Dallas Office where the boring logs were reviewed and edited by an ATC geotechnical engineer. Soil samples were then selected for geotechnical laboratory testing. All geotechnical testing was conducted with the applicable ASTM Standards.

Results of the geotechnical laboratory tests are summarized on the boring logs in Appendix A.

2.4 SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS

Subsurface soils encountered during the field exploration are described on the Logs of Borings in Appendix A. Subsurface conditions are an interpretation based on the field logs, visual examination of the field samples by a geotechnical engineer, and selective geotechnical testing on collected soil samples.

Subsurface conditions encountered beneath the paving in the borings are described as follows:

- **§** <u>*Top Soil*</u>: A thin veneer of top soil covers the site to a depth of approximately one foot, except in the areas where fill exists. Top soil is characterized as dark brown, medium stiff to stiff clay (CH) with organics consisting of roots. Natural moisture content in this layer ranges from 10.0 to 18.4 percent. No Atterberg limit tests were conducted on samples in this layer. Unconfined compressive strength in this layer was also measured in the range of 1.0 to 4.5+ tons per square foot (TSF) in the field with a calibrated pocket penetrometer.
- § <u>Fill Clay Layer:</u> A fill layer consisting of clay encountered in Borings B-4, B-5, B-6, B-7, B-8, B-9, and B-10 from the surface to a maximum depth of approximately 4.0 feet. This fill layer is characterized as brown sandy clay (CH). Natural moisture content in this layer is in the range of approximately 12.6 to 31.1 percent. Results of the Atterberg limit tests indicate that this fill material is of moderate to high plasticity with a Liquid Limit (LL) of approximately 63 percent, a Plastic Limit (PL) of approximately 24 percent, and a resulting Plasticity Index (PI) of approximately 39 percent. Unconfined compressive strength in this layer was also measured in the range of 4.5+ TSF as measured in the field with a pocket penetrometer.
- § <u>Clay Layer</u>: A clay layer exists beneath the top soil and the fill materials to a depth of approximately 13 to 22 feet. This clay layer is characterized as dark brown, medium stiff to hard clay (CH) with abundant limestone nodules and occasional rust to red coloration. Occasional limestone, shale and bentonite seams were also encountered in this layer. Natural moisture content in this layer ranges from



5.8 to 30.0 percent. Results of the Atterberg limit tests indicate that this soil is of moderate to high plasticity with a LL of approximately 34 to 62 percent, a PL of approximately 15 to 24 percent, and a resulting PI of approximately 19 to 38 percent. Unconfined compressive strength in this layer was also measured in the range of 0.5 to 4.5+ TSF in the field with a pocket penetrometer and 1.3 to 4.3 TSF as measured in the laboratory with unconfined compression tests. Results of free swell tests conducted on selected samples in this layer also indicated that a free swell in the range of 0.3 to 0.4 percent.

- § <u>Weathered Limestone:</u> Beneath this clay layer, a thin layer of weathered limestone was encountered in the borings overlying gray limestone. This layer is characterized as tan to gray weathered limestone. Natural moisture content in this layer is in the range of 17.5 percent. THD blow counts in this layer ranged from 50 blows per 0.5 to 1.625 inches of penetration.
- § <u>Limestone:</u> A limestone layer is encountered from a depth of 16 to 22 feet to the bottom of borings. This limestone layer is characterized as gray and hard. Natural moisture content in this layer is in the range of approximately 7.5 to 26.4 percent. THD blow counts in this layer ranged from 50 blows per 0.00 to 1.75 inches of penetration.

A copy of the Logs of Borings is included in Appendix A of this report, which illustrates the visual characteristics of all soil strata encountered using the USCS.

2.5 GROUNDWATER CONDITIONS

Borings were advanced without the use of the drilling fluids. During drilling and at completion of each boring, groundwater conditions were noted on the drilling tools and measured with a weighted measuring tape. Most of the borings were dry; however, some borings indicated the presence of groundwater at depths ranging from 23.0 to 24.8 feet based on the field observations at the time of ATC's exploration on November 15 through 18, 2006.

ATC's experience in the vicinity of the site shows that groundwater may be encountered at a depth of approximately 15 to 20 feet or near the top of the weathered rock surface. ATC recommends that a seasonal high groundwater level of 15 feet below the current ground surface be used in design, where necessary.

If the ground water level is critical to design or construction, ground water observation wells should be installed to monitor ground water fluctuations over a period of time and to permit more accurate determinations of wet season and dry season levels.



3.0 FOUNDATION EVALUATION

3.1 GENERAL

A suitable foundation for any structure must satisfy two independent criteria with respect to underlying foundations soils. Firstly, the foundation must have an adequate factor of safety against exceeding the bearing capacity of the foundation soils. Secondly, the vertical movements due to swelling and compression of the subsurface materials must be within tolerable limits for the structure.

3.2 BEARING CAPACITY

In general, subsurface soils are adequate to support the proposed buildings at the site, which are expected to be light to medium loaded foundations with respect to net bearing pressures. Results of this exploration indicate that the subsurface soils are suitable for shallow foundation support provided that the recommended site preparation is performed. However, movement sensitive exterior walls and heavily loaded columns should be supported on drilled shaft foundations.

3.3 FOUNDATION MOVEMENT

3.3.1 Vertical Movements

Most problems resulting from highly plastic clays involve swelling as evidenced by upward heaving of the soil or structure, which result in detrimental cracking. Difference between the natural water in the field at the time of construction and the equilibrium water content finally achieved in the subsurface after completion of the structure is the most important consideration in foundations constructed on soils with high swell potential. Heave values increase as the initial moisture content increases; however, moisture contents and heave movements vary seasonably even after equilibrium is reached.

Soil conditions and plasticity characteristics of the subsurface materials at this site is variable. Plasticity indices of the near-subsurface materials encountered at the site indicate a high shrink/swell potential. Estimates of the soil swell at the site were evaluated using the Potential Vertical Rise (PVR) method. Based on the existing moisture conditions with average liquid limit (LL) and plasticity index (PI) of the soils, a typical PVR value of approximately 3 to 3.5 inches should be expected for an active zone of approximately 15 feet.

In addition to the PVR method, potential heave at the site was calculated using the result of free swell tests. Under a nominal loading of 0.1 tons per square foot (TSF), result of the swell tests also indicate that a potential heave values on the order of 0.7 to 1.2 percent, which results in a potential heave of approximately 2 to 3 inches.



3.3.2 Settlements

Significant settlements are not expected for the foundations bearing on the hard natural site soils. Some fill materials were noted on the borings near the surface at the site. Settlements and differential settlements can occur on foundations bearing on fill material that has not been placed properly, which cause cosmetic cracking and/or distortions of the building. Recommendations provided in this report are intended to reduce settlements in the buildings.

3.3.3 Differential Movements

Based on the potential swell of the soils at the site, some differential movements should be expected. Any differential movement can result in minor cracks of the floor slabs and walls, warped and sticking doors, and other operational and cosmetic problems that may require frequent maintenance and/or repairs. Large glass windows, large stucco and/or masonry walls as well as exposed concrete floors and floor tiles will be susceptible to differential movements.

To account for possible foundation movements, provisions should be included by frequent saw cuts in the floor slab, architectural joints should be used in long runs of masonry or stucco and above openings in both exterior and interior walls. As an alternate, less brittle materials may be considered. Recommendations presented in this report are intended to reduce potential for these types of movements in the buildngs; however, some differential movement between surrounding flatwork and buildings should be expected.

3.3.4 Foundation Type

Based on vertical movements, ATC recommends the removal of any near-surface fill, organics, and other deleterious materials present at the site to a minimum depth of 2 feet followed by installation of a building pad with a minimum of 2.5 feet consisting of floor slab, clean crushed stone and select fill.

Moisture conditioning of the subgrade may be performed as an option to reduce the potential heave movements at this site, and therefore the thickness of the building pad. Heavy column loads and exterior masonry walls of some of the building may need to be supported on drilled piers or shafts. In addition, structurally suspended slabs may be used if the anticipated movements cannot be tolerated.

For slab-on-grade foundations, a moisture barrier should be provided around the building perimeters to reduce the moisture variations beneath the buildings. Generally, sidewalks and pavement can serve for this purpose. Proper drainage should be maintained during and after construction to prevent ponding in the vicinity of the buildings. Additionally, trees and other vegetation capable of withdrawing moisture form the soil should be kept at a distance from the buildings equal to three quarters of the ultimate tree height.

3.3.5 Subgrade Treatment

Subsurface soils at the site consist of highly expansive soils. In order to limit the vertical movements to one inch or less in the building areas, subgrade treatment must be performed prior to the construction of the buildings by various methods. These subgrade treatment methods include:



Moisture Conditioning by Excavation and Replacement

Moisture conditioning by excavation and replacement is one of the available options. ATC recommends the removal and replacement of surficial soils to a minimum depth of approximately 5 feet to limit the vertical movements to one inch or less. After removal of these soils, they may be treated at the surface by moisture conditioning and used as backfill. Recommendations for moisture conditioning are provided as follows:

- **§** Prior to moisture conditioning operations, any near surface fill materials as well as top soil with organic mater to a depth of 2 feet excavated and removed from the building pad area, which can be used as general fill;
- **§** Soils should be excavated and stockpiled to a depth of 5 feet of the bottom of the select fill building pad elevation;
- § Excavation should be graded to provide for positive drainage and removal of rainwater;
- **§** Stockpiled soils should then be thoroughly blended and moisture conditioned to provide a relatively homogenous material;
- **§** Blended and moisture conditioned soils should then be placed in the excavation in 6-inch lift and compacted to at least 95 percent of the maximum dry density using ASTM D698;
- **§** Stockpiled soils should moisture conditioned to at least 3 percent above the optimum moisture content, but within a range to allow the specified compaction.

Upon completion, the upper 6 inches of the subgrade may be treated with lime to provide a working surface to facilitate ease of construction. A representative of the geotechnical engineer should be on site during site preparation and moisture conditioning operations, if this method is used.

Moisture Conditioning by Injection Methods

Moisture conditioning by injection methods is another viable option for treatment of the subsurface soils at the site. ATC recommends the treatment of surficial soils to a minimum depth of approximately 10 feet to limit the vertical movements to one inch or less. Water, lime and chemicals may be used for treatment purposes. Recommendations for moisture conditioning by injection methods are provided as follows:

- **§** Prior to the start of injection operations, the building pad should be brought to finished subgrade, minus select fill, and staked out to accurately mark the areas to be injected;
- **§** Allowance should be made for one to three inches of swelling that may occur as a result of the injection process;
- **§** Injection should be made to a depth of 10 feet on five-foot centers each way covering an area of a minimum of five feet outside the building limits and 10 feet beyond the building entrances;
- **§** Injections should be continued until a pocket penetrometer reading of 3.0 TSF or less is obtained on undisturbed soil samples throughout the injected depth at the discretion of the Engineer; and
- **§** A minimum of 12 inches of select fill should' be placed over the injected subgrade as soon as is practical after completion of injection operations.



Upon completion of injection operations, the exposed surface should be scarified and re-compacted to a density between 92 and 98 percent of maximum ASTM D-698 density, at or above optimum moisture or may be treated with lime to provide a working surface. Select fill should then be placed in maximum loose lifts of 8 inches and compacted to at least 95 percent of maximum density per ASTM D698 at a moisture content of -2 to +3 percentage points of optimum.

Select Fill after Excavation

Select fill may be used as an alternate fill material after excavation of soils. ATC recommends the removal and replacement of surficial soils to a minimum depth of approximately 5 feet to limit the vertical movements to one inch or less. After removal of these soils, select fill may be imported to the site and placed in the excavation and compacted. Recommendations for select fill placement are provided as follows:

- **§** Prior to select fill placement operations, any near surface fill materials as well as top soil with organic mater to a depth of 2 feet excavated and removed from the building pad area, which can be used as general fill;
- **§** Soils should be excavated to a minimum depth of 5 feet of the bottom of the select fill building pad elevation with excavated soils used as general fill;
- **§** Excavation should be graded to provide for positive drainage and removal of rainwater;
- **§** Select fill should consist of clayey sand to sandy clay having a liquid limit less than 40 percent and PI between 7 and 15 percent; and
- **§** Select fill should be compacted in horizontal loose lifts of 8 inches or less with each lift moisturized achieve moisture content between -2 to +3 percentage points of optimum and 95 percent of the maximum density in accordance with ASTM D698.

3.3.6 Surface Drainage

It is extremely important that future ponding or standing water around the buildings not be permitted. All surface drainage should be designed to positively drain surface water away from the buildings. Gutter and roof drains should be tied into a surface or subsurface drainage system that carried the water well away from the buildings. Drainage facilities should be properly maintained at all times after construction.



4.0 FOUNDATION DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS

ATC has developed foundation design recommendations on the basis of the subsurface conditions encountered during this field exploration. Subsurface data obtained from the borings was evaluated utilizing correlations between the strength test values and engineering performance characteristics of similar soils. After final design plans and specifications are available, a general review by ATC is strongly recommended as a means to check that the evaluations made in preparation of this report are correct, and that earthwork and foundation and subgrade preparation recommendations are properly interpreted and implemented.

4.1 FOUNDATION RECOMMENDATIONS

ATC recommends that drilled shaft or pier foundations should be used to support the buildings. Lightly loaded structures may be supported at grade by spread footing or stiffened slab foundations systems provided that adequate precautions are taken to limit the vertical movements.

4.1.1 Drilled Shaft or Pier Foundation

Exterior walls or interior columns carrying significant bads may require drilled shaft or pier foundations. Based on an evaluation of subsurface soil conditions, drilled shafts or piers bearing in gray limestone are recommended for support of the building. The design values are based on a dry excavation into the gray limestone. The drilled shafts should be embedded at least 5 feet into gray limestone to develop the recommended end bearing resistance values. Recommended drilled shaft design parameters are presented below:

Bearing Stratum	Allowable End Bearing Resistance	Allowable Skin Fric Pounds per Squar	tion Resistance e Foot (PSF)
Dearing Stratum	Pounds per Square Foot (PSF)	Compression	Tension
Gray Limestone	40,000	1,500 psf	1,000 psf

Recommended Drilled Shaft Design Parameters

The recommended allowable end bearing resistance contains a factor of safety of 3.0. The recommended allowable skin friction resistance contains a factor of safety of 2.0. Settlement of the drilled shafts is estimated to be less than about 0.5 inch. The settlement is expected to occur as the shafts are loaded.

Group Effects

For groups of drilled shafts, where the spacing between shafts will be less than 2.5-shaft diameters (2.5D) center to center, a reduction factor should be applied to the allowable skin friction resistance for the determination of required shaft penetrations. For shafts touching, a reduction factor of 50 percent should be



used. For a spacing of 2.5D, where D is the diameter of the largest adjacent shaft, no reduction is necessary. A straight-line interpolated reduction should be used between drilled shafts touching and a spacing of 2.5D.

Drilled Shaft Construction Considerations

Groundwater seepage should not be encountered during the installation of drilled shafts; however, if construction is performed during wet periods seepage into shafts may occur. Construction of the drilled shafts will require the use of temporary casing if excessive seepage water infiltration occurs. If required, temporary casing should be seated below the zone of seepage and properly sealed to prevent seepage into the drilled shaft excavation. Care must then be taken that a sufficient head of plastic concrete is maintained within the casing during extraction.

Concrete for the drilled shaft should have a slump of 5 inches plus or minus 1 inch and should be placed in a manner to avoid striking the reinforcing steel and shaft walls during placement. Installation of individual shafts should be completed within an 8-hour period to help prevent deterioration of bearing surfaces. Individual shafts should be drilled in a continuous operation and concrete placed as soon as practical after completion of the drilling, particularly if groundwater seepage is encountered.

It is recommended that ATC be retained to observe and document the drilled shaft construction. The geotechnical engineer, or a representative of the geotechnical engineer, should document the shaft diameter, depth, cleanliness, plumbness, and the type of bearing material. The drilled shaft excavation should be observed to verify the bottom of the hole is dry and thoroughly cleaned of cuttings. No build-up of cuttings in the base of the excavation should be allowed.

Void Space Under Structural Elements

The existing previous building presumably was supported by a drilled pier and grade beam foundation system. As a result, no perimeter grade beam will be required. However, if grade beams are to be replaced, recommendations in this section should be followed.

Drilled shafts should structurally support the grade beams. A minimum void space of 7 inches is recommended between the bottom of these members and the subgrade to prevent contact with the swelling clay soils. Structural cardboard forms are one of the acceptable means of providing a void beneath the grade beams and/or wall panels. If cardboard cartons are used to form the required void space, care should be taken during construction to assure that the void boxes are not allowed to become wet or crushed prior to or during concrete placement and finishing operations. The contractor should be required to submit concrete quantities used for each slab and grade beam pour. A significant concrete overage would be an early sign of a collapsed carton form and the need for further investigation.

Exterior portions of the grade beams along the perimeter of the building should be backfilled with on-site clayey soils. A soil retainer should be installed to prevent in filling of the void space. The backfill soils should be placed at moisture content above optimum and compacted to at least 95 percent of the standard Proctor density (ASTM D-698).



4.1.2 Stiffened Slab Foundation System

For lightly loaded structures, a stiffened slab foundation system may also be used consisting of a posttensioned or conventionally-reinforced slab designed by a structural engineer to withstand the estimated vertical soil movements. Grade beams founded in the native soils and/or in compacted fill, are recommended to be designed for a maximum net allowable soil bearing resistance of 2,000 PSF. A grade beam with a minimum width of 10 inches is recommended to provide a margin of safety against a local or punching shear failure of the foundation soils.

Design criteria have been developed in accordance with the Post-Tensioning Institute's (PTI) slab-on-grade design methods. The edge moisture variation distances (e_m) for center lift conditions were derived based on a Thornthwaite Index of -10 for the site. The edge moisture variation distance (e_m) for edge lift conditions was based on a Thornthwaite Index of +20 for the site to account for irrigation in well-drained landscape areas. PTI differential movement (y_m) estimates are presented in Table 2.

Distance	Center Lift	Edge Lift
Edge Moisture Variation Distance, e _m	5.7 feet	3.0 feet
Estimated Differential Movement, y _m	1.0 inch	0.8 inch

Recommendations for Post-Tensioned Slab Design Parameters

In design parameters presented above are based upon proper preparation of the building pad subgrade as recommended.

The Post-Tensioning Institute (PTI) method incorporates numerous design assumptions associated with the derivation of required variables needed to determine the soil design criteria. The PTI method of predicting differential soil movement is applicable only when site moisture conditions are controlled by the climate alone on a well graded site (i.e. no improper drainage, water leaks or free water sources). Under these conditions, moisture increases within the supporting soils and the resulting differential foundation movements are much lower than differential movements that can occur due to post-construction movements due to localized saturation caused by free water sources near or beneath the structures. The performance of a slab foundation can be significantly influenced by landscaping maintenance, recessed landscaping additions near the structures, water line leaks, any other free water sources, and deep-rooted trees and shrubs.

4.2 FLOOR SLAB DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS

4.2.1 General

Potential Vertical Rise (PVR) calculations were performed using liquid and plastic limit test results, pocket penetrometer readings, and moisture content tests to estimate the swell potential of the soil. The potential vertical movements of the subgrade soils are estimated to be approximately 3.5 inches. This estimated



movement is based on the dry soil moisture conditions. Smaller subgrade movement will occur if the building subgrade is lowered and greater movement could occur if the building pad is raised.

4.2.2 Suspended Floor Slab

A suspended structural slab is recommended, if floor slab movements are to be limited to less than 0.5 inches. Structurally supported floor slab over at least a 7-inch void is recommended between the bottom of the floor slab and the subgrade to prevent contact with the swelling clay soils.

If the floor coverings have moisture sensitive adhesives, a crawl space sufficient to circulate air under the building is recommended to prevent the build-up of high humidity conditions under the building that could cause problems with the floor covering adhesives.

4.2.3 Slab-on-Grade Floor Slab

A slab-on-grade floor slab is recommended, if floor slab movements up to one inch or ess can be tolerated. To reduce potential subgrade movements to be less than one inch, subgrade treatment for slab-on-grade will be required. Recommendations for subgrade treatment are included elsewhere in this report.

Floors can be designed as a conventional slab-on-grade with a modulus of subgrade reaction of 150 pounds per cubic inch (PCI).

The floor slab should have a moisture barrier to retard moisture migration through the floor slab in areas that will be painted or covered with tiles or carpet. It is recommended that the moisture barrier consist of plastic sheeting. In areas where a vapor barrier is used, care will have to be exercised so that the concrete is properly cured in order to reduce the potential for curling. Procedures for installation of vapor barriers are provided in ACI 302 Section 2.4.1.

The area around the building should be graded in accordance with the recommendations in Earthwork. Site grading and landscaping details can either contribute to problems or help prevent problems from developing. ATC recommends that ATC reviews the site grading and landscaping construction drawings to confirm that the recommendations in this report have been correctly implemented.

4.3 LATERAL EARTH PRESSURES

Earth pressures on walls below grade and retaining walls are influenced by structural design of the walls, conditions of wall movement, methods of construction and/or fill compaction and type of backfill soils. The most common conditions assumed for earth retaining wall design are the active and at-rest-conditions. Active conditions apply to relatively flexible earth retaining structures, such as freestanding retaining walls, where some movement and rotation may occur to mobilize soil shear strength. Walls, which are rigidly designed, should be designed for at-rest conditions. A third condition, the passive state, represents the maximum possible soil pressure to resist horizontal badings from structural elements, and is used in wall foundation design to help resist active and at-rest pressures. Because significant wall movements are



required to develop the passive pressure, the total calculated passive pressure should be reduced by one-half for design purposes.

It is recommended that free draining crushed stone material or coarse aggregate satisfying ASTM C-33 be used as backfill behind below-grade walls and retaining walls. The crushed stone should be at least 2 feet wide at the base of the wall and extend upward and outward from the base of the wall on a 1 horizontal to 1 vertical slope. Concrete sand (ASTM C-33 fine aggregate) may be alternatively used as a free-draining backfill.

Recommended active passive and at-rest earth coefficients to be used in design of the sidewalls of various structures, assuming an in-place unit weight of 120 pounds per cubic foot (PCF) for the backfill materials are as follows:

Forth Proceuro State		Backfill Type										
Earth Pressure State	Coarse Crushed Stone	Concrete Sand	Sandy Select Fill									
Active	0.3	0.3	0.5									
Passive	3.5	3.0	2.0									
At-Rest	0.4	0.5	0.6									

Recommended Active, Passive and At-Rest Design Parameters

These values are based on the assumption that the backfill surface behind the walls is generally level, no significant surcharge loads will be applied, and the walls are properly drained. The use of steeper slopes behind the walls will increase the lateral pressures against the walls.

To help minimize the potential backfill settlement, it is recommended that the backfill be lightly compacted. Additionally to reduce the possibility of increases in lateral pressures due to heavy equipment, it is recommend ed that compaction of backfill adjacent to walls be accomplished using light) hand controlled or small riding type) compactors rather than large and heavy compactors. Regardless of the compactive effort, settlement of the backfill will likely to occur over time. For design purposes, one inch of settlement should be anticipated for every 10 foot of depth of backfill placed. Special attention should be given to compaction of backfill in areas where wall backfill will support pavement around and entering the structure. A perforated drain should be provided at the base of all below grade walls.

These recommendations are based on the assumption that constantly functioning drainage systems are installed between walls and soil backfill to prevent the accidental build up of hydrostatic pressures and lateral stresses in excess of the stated values. If a functioning drainage system is not installed, then the lateral pressures should be determined using the buoyant weight of the soil. In addition, hydrostatic pressures using unit weight of water should be added to the earth pressures to obtain the total stresses for design.



4.4 PAVEMENT DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS

4.4.1 General

Traffic loading information for the proposed parking lot pavement was not available at the time of this report submittal. It was therefore assumed that the parking stalls would be subject to automobile traffic only (light duty pavement section) and that the drives would be subject to both automobile and occasional medium to heavy truck traffic (medium duty pavement section). If the assumed traffic loading conditions are different than indicated herein ATC should be contacted since it could impact the recommendations presented in the following sections.

4.4.2 Pavement Sections

Recommended pavement sections for rigid pavement are presented below.

Devement Tune	Pavement Section										
Favement Type	Light Duty	Medium Duty									
Portland Cement Concrete	5 inches	6 inches									
Lime Stabilized Subgrade	6 inches	6 inches									
Total Pavement Section	11 inches	12 inches									

Recommended Rigid Pavement Sections

A minimum 7-inch thick concrete is recommended for the dumpster pad and the area in front of the dumpster and fire lane.

4.4.3 Pavement Materials

Concrete should have a minimum 28-day compressive strength of 3,000 pounds per square inch (psi). Concrete quality will be important in order to produce the desired flexural strength and longterm durability. Assuming a nominal maximum aggregate size of 1 to 1 3/8 inches, concrete is recommended to have entrained air of 5 percent (\pm 1 percent) and a maximum water cement ratio of 0.50.

Proper joint placement and design is critical to pavement performance. Contraction joints should typically be placed at 15 feet on-center. Each contraction joint should be saw cut as soon as possible after placement of concrete but before shrinkage cracks occur. The concrete should be saw cut at least 3/8 inch wide and 2 inches deep.

Isolation joints should be placed where the pavement will abut the building, drainage in-lets, manholes, Tand unsymmetrical intersections, and anywhere differential movement between the pavement and a structure may take place. The isolation joints should 0.5 inch wide.

All joints including sawed joints should be properly cleaned and sealed as soon as possible to avoid infiltration of water, small gravel, etc. Either cold-poured or hot-poured sealing material may be used.



Backing should be provided to hold the isolation joint sealant in place. Manufacturers' instructions for mixing and installing the joint materials should be followed.

It is recommended that the concrete pavement be reinforced with No. 3 bars placed on chairs on approximately 24-inch centers in each direction. The perimeter of the pavements should have a stiffening curb section to reduce the potential for distress due to heavy wheel loads near the edge of the pavements and to provide channelized drainage.

4.4.4 Pavement Subgrade

After the removal of surficial materials, a minimum of the upper 6 inches of the subgrade soil should be scarified and moisture-conditioned for a depth of 6 inches, and compacted to at least 95 percent of the standard Proctor density (ASTM D-698) at moisture content above optimum. Only on-site soil (comparable to the underlying subgrade soil) should be used for fine grading the pavement areas.

After fine grading, the subgrade should again be watered if needed and re-compacted in order to re-achieve the moisture and density levels discussed above and provide a tight non-yielding subgrade. Sand should not be allowed for use in fine grading the pavement area. Subgrade moisture content and density must be maintained until the pavement is completed.

4.4.5 Pavement Considerations

Soils at the site are moderately active and differential heave area could occur. The pavement service life may be reduced due to water infiltration into subgrade soils through heave induced cracks in the pavement section. This will result in softening and loss of strength of the subgrade soils. A regular maintenance program to seal pavement cracks will help prolong the service life of concrete pavement.

The life of the pavement can be increased with proper drainage. The site should be graded to prevent ponding adjacent to curbs and pavement edges. Backfill materials capable of holding water behind the curb should not be permitted. Flat pavement grades should be avoided. All joints and pavements should be inspected at regular intervals to ensure proper performance and to prevent crack propagation.



5.0 EARTHWORK GUIDELINES

5.1 SITE GRADING AND DRAINAGE

Proper grading should be provided to positively drain water away from the building and prevent water from collecting or discharging near the foundations. Water must not be permitted to pond adjacent to the building during or after construction. Surface drainage gradients should be designed to divert surface water away from the building and edges of pavements. Surface drainage gradients within 10 feet of the building should be constructed with 2 percent slope.

Roofs should be provided with gutters and downspouts to prevent the discharge of rainwater directly onto the ground adjacent to the building foundations. Downspouts should discharge directly onto well-drained areas or drainage swales, if possible. Roof downspouts and surface drain outlets should discharge into erosion-resistant areas. Water permitted to pond in planters, open areas, or areas with unsealed joints next to the structure can result in excessive slab or pavement movements.

Exterior sidewalks and pavements will be subject to some post construction movement. Flat grades should be avoided. Entrance slabs should slope away from the building. Joints in concrete pavement should be sealed to prevent the infiltration of water. Since some post construction movement of pavement and flat work may occur, joints particularly around the building should be periodically inspected and resealed where necessary.

5.2 PAVEMENT AREA SUBGRADE PREPARATION AND FILL PLACEMENT

The pavement subgrade should be stripped and removed of any surface vegetation, paving, foundation, and any other deleterious materials. Following stripping operations, the subgrade should be proofrolled under the observation of the geotechnical engineer or a representative of the geotechnical engineer. Proofrolling can generally be accomplished using a heavy (25 ton or greater total weight) pneumatic tired roller making several passes over the areas. Soft or compressible zones should be removed to a firm subgrade. The site can be raised to the planned finish grade using on-site clays.

The on-site clays with a PI greater than 15 percent are not recommended for use as fill in the planned building area. However, the on-site clays can be used as fill in the planned pavement areas. Fill in the pavement areas should be placed in maximum 8 inch loose lifts and compacted to at least 95 percent of the standard Proctor maximum dry density at moisture content above optimum.

5.3 FIELD SUPERVISION AND DENSITY TESTING

Field density and moisture content determinations should be on each lift of fill with aminimum of 1 test per lift per 3,000 square feet in the building pad area and one (1) test per lift per 5,000 square feet in non-structural area and 2 tests per lift per 100 linear feet of utility trench backfill.



For scarified and recompacted subgrades, a minimum of one field density and moisture content determination should be performed per every 3,000 square feet in the building area. Supervision by a field technician and a professional engineer is required. Some adjustments in the test frequencies may be required based upon the general fill types and soil conditions at the time of fill placement.

Many problems can be avoided or solved in the field if proper inspection and testing services are provided. ATC recommends that proofrolling, site preparation, and foundation construction be monitored by an engineering technician under supervision of a professional engineer. ATC employs a group of experienced, well-trained technicians for inspection and construction materials testingthat can provide these services.



6.0 **BASIS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS**

ATC's professional services have been performed, findings obtained and recommendations prepared in accordance with generally accepted geotechnical engineering principles and practices. ATC is not responsible for the conclusions, opinions or recommendations made by others based upon this data.

The scope of the exploration was intended to evaluate soil conditions within the primary influence of the proposed structure and does not include an evaluation of potential deep soil conditions, such as sinkholes. Analyses and recommendations submitted in this report are based upon the data obtained from the soil boring performed at the location indicated. Regardless of the thoroughness of a geotechnical exploration, there is always a possibility that conditions between borings will be different from those at specific boring locations and that conditions will not be as anticipated by the designers or contractors. In addition, the construction process itself may alter soil conditions.

If any subsoil variations become evident during the course of this project, a re-evaluation of the recommendations contained in this report will be necessary after ATC has had an opportunity to observe the characteristics of the conditions encountered. The applicability of this report should also be reviewed in the event that significant changes occur in the design, nature or location of the proposed construction.

Recommendations provided herein are based in part upon project information provided to ATC and they apply only to the specific project and site discussed in this report. If the project information is incorrect or if additional information is available, the correct or additional information should be conveyed to ATC for review. ATC's recommendations may then be modified, if necessary. Experienced geotechnical personnel should observe and document the construction procedures used and the conditions encountered. Unanticipated conditions and inadequate procedures should be reported to the design team. ATC further recommends that ATC is retained to provide these services based upon our familiarity with the project, the subsurface conditions, and the intent of the recommendations and design criteria.



FIGURES









APPENDIX A LOGS OF BORINGS



CLIENT	TIG Real E	Estate					BOR	RING #_	E	8-1			
PROJECT NAME	Northern	Crossing West					JOB	#	7	4.27	982	.00	01
PROJECT LOCATIO	N SEC Loop	820 & I-35W					DRA	WN BY	′J	Т			
	Fort Worth	h, TX					APP	ROVED	в <u>у S</u>	6MG			
	DRILLING and S	SAMPLING INFORM	ATION		r				Т	EST D	ATA		
Date Started	11/15/06	Hammer Wt		140 lbs.									
Date Completed	11/15/06	Hammer Drop		30 in.									
Drill Foreman	СТ	Spoon Sampler	OD	2 in.									
Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		<u> </u>			6.1	gth	er				
Boring Method	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		3 in.		phics aphics	netrati vs/foo	fined Strer	tromei	itent 9	LL)	(PL)	
	SOIL CLASSIFICA	ATION	E	υ	e Type	er Gra ery Gr	ard Pe	Uncor essive	t Pene	re Cor	Limit (: Limit	×
SURF	ACE ELEVATION 6	618.5 FT MSL	Stratur Depth	Depth Scale Sample	Sample	Recover	Standa Test, N	Qu-tsf Compr	PP-tsf Pocket	Moistu	Liquid	Plastic	Remar
	y with Organics and	d Roots	1.0	- 1	ST				3.5		-	-	
CLAY, Stiff to	Hard, Tan to Brown	n with Limestone	1						4.5+				
				2	ST				4.25	14.5			
					-				3.0	24.6	60	23	PI = 37
				5 - 3	SI				2.0				
					- ет				2.0				
									2.0	28.7			
				- 5	ST			1.5	2.5	28.0			DD = 97.3 pcf
Red at 9.0	Feet								2.0				
					1								
	Tan Weathered		13.5										
	Tan weathered			15						17.5			
			16.5		THD				4.5				50=0.50" 50=1.625"
	Gray, with Gray Sh	nale Seams	10.5										30-1.023
↓					THD								50=1.25" 50=1.75"
				20 –									
						-				85			50-0 25"
End of Boring	at 22 Feet. No gro	oundwater was	22.0							0.0			50=0.50"
encountered.													
Sample Ty	<u>pe</u>		De	pth to Grour	ndwate	er	"					Bo	oring Method
ST - Pressed She	spoon Iby Tube	 	NOTED OF	n Drilling To pletion (in a	uis _ Iders)		π. ft.			(CFA	- Hol - Cor	iow stem Augers htinuous Flight Auge
CA - Continuous F	light Auger		At Comp	pletion (oper	hole)		ft.					- Driv	ving Casing
CU - Cuttings		Ţ,	After	hou	rs _		ft.				VID	- iviu	
CT - Continuous T	ube	T	After	hou	rs _		ft.					Ρ	age 1 of 1
		题	Lave De	eptn	_		nt.						



CLIENT	TIG Real E	state							BOR	ING #_	E	8-2			
PROJECT NAME	Northern C	rossing West						_	JOB	#	7	4.27	<u>982</u>	.00	01
PROJECT LOCATIO	N SEC Loop	820 & I-35W						_	DRA	WN BY	J	Т			
	Fort Worth	, ТХ							APPI	ROVED	в <u>ч S</u>	MG			
	DRILLING and SA	AMPLING INFORMA	TION								Т	EST D	ATA		
Date Started	11/15/06	Hammer Wt.		140	lbs.										
Date Completed	11/15/06	Hammer Drop		30	in.										
Drill Foreman	СТ	Spoon Sampler C	D	2	in.										
Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		-	in.				Б.,	gth	e l				
Boring Method	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		3	in.	a	aphics aphics	L	netrati ws/foot	nfined e Stren	etromet	ntent %	(11)	(PL)	
	SOIL CLASSIFICA	TION	ε		<u>e</u>	le Type	ler Gra /ery Gr	Idwate	ard Pe N - blo	f Uncor	f et Pene	Ire Col	Limit (c Limit	s
SURF	ACE ELEVATION 62	22.8 FT MSL	Stratu Depth	Depth Scale	Samp No.	Samp	Samp Recov	Groun	Stand Test, I	Qu-tsf Comp	PP-tst Pocke	Moistu	Liquid	Plastic	Rema
TOPSOIL Cla	y with Organics and	Roots	1.0	-	1	ST					4.5+				
CLAY, Hard, E	Brown to Tan with Li	mestone Pieces,		-	1						4.5+	19.4			
				-	2	ST					4.5+				
	- <i>i</i>			-		0.7					4.5+				
	Feet			5 -	3	51					2.5				
				-	4	ST					4.5+	17.0			
				_							3.5	16.8	35	16	PI = 19
			9.0	-	5	ST					2.5				
LIMESTONE,	Tan, Weathered wit	h Tan Clay Seams	10.0	-	1						4.5+				
- CLAY, Hard, 1	Tan with Tan Weath	ered Limestone		10	-	İ						23.8			
Layers, Moist				-											
				-											
				- 15 —	1										
			16.0	-	1							0.5			
	Gray with Shale Sea	ims		-		-	_				4.5+	8.5			50 0 50"
				-											50=0.50 50=0.25"
				-											
				20 -	1										
			22.0	-											
End of Boring	at 22 Feet. No grou	Indwater was		-	-	THD									50=0.625"
encountered.															50=0.25"
					<u> </u>	duret									ring Mathad
Sample Typ SS - Driven Solit S	be Spoon	• N	<u>טפו</u> וoted וו	ptn to (n Drillir	<u>sroun</u> Ig Tor	idwate ols	<u>er</u>	ft				I	HSA	- Hol BC	low Stem Augers
ST - Pressed Shel	by Tube	≰ A	t Comp	letion	(in au	gers)		ft				(CFA	- Cor	tinuous Flight Auge
RC - Rock Core	iigiit Augel	ĕ A 	t Comp	oletion	(open	hole)		_ ft	-			ļ	MD	- Mu	d Drilling
CU - Cuttings CT - Continuous T	ube	⊻ A ▼ △	atter		hour	s		ft 						-	A , A
	~~~~	La c	ave De	pth	nour	-		ft						Р	age 1 of 1



	TIG Real Es	tate							BOR	ING #	E	8-3			
ROJECT NAME	Northern C	rossing West						_	JOB	#	7	4.27	982	.00	01
ROJECT LOCATIO	N SEC Loop 8	320 & I-35W							DRA	WN BY	J	Т			
	Fort Worth,	ТХ							APP	ROVED	в <u>ү <b>S</b></u>	MG			
	DRILLING and SA	MPLING INFORMA	TION								Т	EST DA	٩ТА		
Date Started	11/15/06	Hammer Wt		140	lbs [										
Date Completed	11/15/06	Hammer Drop		30 i	in.										
Drill Foreman	СТ	Spoon Sampler C	D	<b>2</b> i	in.										
Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		- i	in.				c	÷	L				
Boring Method	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		<b>3</b> i	in.		s sic		ratio foot	ed treng	mete	nt %			
-			1			e	raphi	er	enet ows/f	onfin ve St	ietroi	onter	(LL)	it (PL	
	SOIL CLASSIFICAT	ION	F		υ	e Tyl	er G	dwat	ard P	Unco	t Per	Le C	Limit	Lim	<del>گ</del>
SURF	ACE ELEVATION 61	6.5 FT MSL	Stratur Depth	Depth Scale	sampl Vo.	Sampl	Sample	Broun	Standa Test, N	Du-tsf Compr	P-tsf ocket	Aoistu	iquid	lastic	Remar
TOPSOIL Cla	v with Organics and I	Roots	1.0		1	ST		-	07	00	4.5+	15.9		-	<b>Ľ</b>
<u>CLAY</u> , Hard,	Tan to Brown with Li	mestone Pieces,	1.0	-							3.5				
Moist				-	2	ST					3.0				
				1							2.0				
				5 —	3	ST					1.5				0 11 0 070/
				=	1	SТ					2.5	29.9			Swell = 0.67%
				_	-	01				1.7	1.75	18.0			DD = 107.5 pcf
			9.0	+	5	ST					4.5+				
CLAY, Hard, 1	Fan to Rust with Wea	thered Limestone		10							4.5+	17.6			
Pieces and Se	eams														
				-											
				-											
			15.0	=								26.0	56	23	PI = 33
	Tan, Weathered		15.0	15 —							4.5+	2010			
	Crow with Crow Shale		16.5	-											
	Gray with Gray Shale	Layers		-								15.8			
				-		THD									50=0.625" 50=0.25"
				20 —											
μ μ				_											
μ μ			23.0	_											
End of Boring	at 23 Feet. No grou	ndwater was		Ť		THD									50=1.00"
encountered.															50=0.75"
Sample Typ	<u>De</u>		De	oth to G	roun	dwate	er						<u> </u>	Bc	ring Method
SS - Driven Split S	poon by Tube	• N	loted or	n Drilling	g Too	ols _		ft				ł	HSA CEA	- Hol - Cor	ow Stem Augers
CA - Continuous F	light Auger		t Comp	euon (II	n aug open	hole)		ft				Ĩ		- Driv	ring Casing
CU - Cuttings		¥ A	fter		hours	s		ft				ſ	VID	- iviu	g מווווות
CT - Continuous T	ube	¥ A ⊯a C	After	I	hours	s		ft						Р	age <b>1</b> of <b>1</b>



LIENT	TIG Real Es	state						_	BOR	ING #_	E	8-4			
ROJECT NAME	Northern C	rossing West						_	JOB	#	7	4.27	982	.00	01
ROJECT LOCATIO	N SEC Loop 8	820 & I-35W						_	DRA	WN BY	J	Т			
	Fort Worth,	, ТХ						_	APPF	ROVED	в <u>ү <b>S</b></u>	MG			
	DRILLING and SA	MPLING INFORM	ATION		_						Т	EST DA	٩ΤΑ		
Date Started	11/18/06	Hammer Wt.		140	lbs.										
Date Completed	11/18/06	Hammer Drop		30	in.										
Drill Foreman	JC	Spoon Sampler	OD	2	in.										
Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		-	in.				5	gth	e.				
Boring Method	CFA	Shelby Tube OE	)	3	in.		hics		etratic s/foot	ined	omet	ent %	r.	٦L)	
						[ype	Grap / Gra	ater	blow	sive :	enetr	Cont	nit (L	mit (F	
	SOIL CLASSIFICAT	IION	₽ Ę	t ∎	ble	Iple T	overy	Mpun	t, N-	tsf Ur	tsf ket P	sture	id Lir	stic Li	Jarks
SURF	ACE ELEVATION 61	9.7 FT MSL	Stra Dep	Dep Scal	San No.	Sam	Sarr Rec	ŪŪ	Star Test	Qu-1 Corr	PP-1 Pocl	Mois	Liqu	Plas	Rem
SANDY CLAY	<u>′</u> Gray, Fill		1.0	-	1	ST		T			4.5+				
CLAY, Hard, Moist	Dark Brown with Lim	estone Nodules,		-							4.5+	18.6			
				-	2	ST					4.5+	17.3			
				-	1	ст				4.0	4.5+	17.0			
Calcareour	s at 5.0 East			5 -	3	51				4.2	4.5+	16.0			DD = 116.5  pc
Calcareou	s at 5.01 eet			-	4	ST					35	10.5			
				-							0.0				
				-	5	ST					1.5				
				-							-	20.9			
				10 -	6	ST					2.5				
				-											
				-											
				-											
				-											
				15 -	7	ST					4.5+				
				-											
			18.0	-											
	Tan, Weathered		19.0	-											
	Gray with occasional	Shale Seams		20 -											
				-		THD									50=0.75" 50=0.50"
⊥ Grey Shale	e Seam at 21-22 Fee	t		-											
					1										
<u>+</u>				-								12.0			
End of Boring	at 25 Feet No grou	ndwater was	25.0	25 -		тно	╺					13.0			50-0 75"
encountered.	a. 201 661. NO 9100	mawator was													50=0.50"
Sample Tvr	De		De	pth to (	Groun	dwate	<u>i i i</u> er			l		I	I	Bo	pring Method
SS - Driven Split S	poon	۹	Noted or	n Drillir	ng Too	ols _	_	_ ft.				ł	ISA	- Hol	low Stem Augers
ST - Pressed Shel	by Tube light Auger	ž,	At Comp	letion	(in au	gers)		_ ft.				) 1	CFA DC	- Cor - Driv	ntinuous Flight Au ving Casing
RC - Rock Core	J	¥	At Comp	pietion	open)	hole)		_ ft. ++				ľ	ИĎ	- Mu	d Drilling
JU - Cuttings CT - Continuous T	ube	¥ ¥	After		hour	s		_ n. ft.						~	ogo <b>1</b> -4
			Cave De	epth				ft.						Р	aye I Of



CLIENT	TIG Real E	state					BOR	RING #_	E	8-5			
PROJECT NAME	Northern 0	Crossing West					JOB	#	7	4.27	<u>982</u>	.00	01
PROJECT LOCATIO	N SEC Loop	820 & I-35W					DRA	WN BY	<u>′</u>	T			
	Fort Worth	n, TX					APP	ROVED	) вү <b>S</b>	<u>SMG</u>			
	DRILLING and S	AMPLING INFORMA	TION						T	EST D	ATA		1
Date Started	11/18/06	Hammer Wt.		140 lbs									
Date Completed	11/18/06	Hammer Drop		<b>30</b> in.									
Drill Foreman	JC	Spoon Sampler (	DD	<b>2</b> in.									
Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		<u> </u>			5	gth	e				
Boring Method	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		<b>3</b> in.		phics aphics	netrati vs/foot	nfined Stren	tromet	tent %	LL)	(PL)	
	SOIL CLASSIFICA	TION	F	Φ	e Type	er Gra ery Gr	ard Pe	Uncor essive	t Pene	re Cor	Limit (	: Limit	Š.
SURF	ACE ELEVATION 6	20.5 FT MSL	Stratur Depth	Depth Scale Sample	Sample	Sampl Recovi	Stands Test, N	Qu-tsf Compr	PP-tsf Pocket	Moistu	Liquid	Plastic	Remar
CLAY Dark B	rown, Fill		1.0	- 1	ST			-	2.0				
CLAY Dark B	rown		1						4.5+				
				- 2	ST				4.5+	22.1			
				1					4.5+				
				5 - 3	ST				4.5+	24.2			
					ST				4.0				
										19.9			
Tan to Gra	y with Calcareous S	Seams at 8.0 Feet		- 5	ST				3.5				
										24.3	50	22	PI = 28
				- 6	ST				2.5				
										19.0			
				15 - 7	ST				4.5+				
			105										
	Tan, Weathered		10.5										
	Grav with occasion	al Shale Seams	20.0	20 –		┝╾┝╼╎							50-2 75"
	Gray with OctasiOne												50=2.75
<b> </b>			25.0	25 -						12.1			
End of Boring	at 25 Feet. No gro	undwater was			THC								50=0.50" 50=0.00"
Sample Typ	<u>be</u>	~ `	De	oth to Grou	ndwat	<u>ər</u>	4				LC V	Bo	oring Method
ST - Pressed Shel	by Tube	≞ ľ <u>≴</u> /	At Comp	pletion (in a	ugers)		ft.				CFA	- Cor	ntinuous Flight Auge
CA - Continuous F RC - Rock Core	light Auger	ē A	t Comp	letion (ope	n hole	)	ft.				DC MD	- Driv - Mu	/ing Casing d Drilling
CU - Cuttings	ube	Ţ, ł	After	hou	urs		ft. ft					-	~ 
	460	± / 281(	Cave De	epth			ft.					Р	age 1 of 1



LIENT	TIG Real E	state					BOR	ING #_	E	8-6			
ROJECT NAME	Northern C	crossing West					JOB # <b>74.27982.0001</b>						
ROJECT LOCATIO	N SEC Loop	820 & I-35W					DRA	WN BY	′J	T			
	Fort Worth	, TX					APP	ROVED	) вү <b>S</b>	SMG			
	DRILLING and SA	AMPLING INFORM	TION		[		_		T	EST D	ATA		
Date Started	11/17/06	Hammer Wt.		140 lbs.									
Date Completed	11/17/06	Hammer Drop		<b>30</b> in.									
Drill Foreman	JC	Spoon Sampler	DD	<b>2</b> in.									
Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		<u> </u>			5	gth	e l				
Boring Method	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		<u>3</u> in.		phics aphics	netrati vs/foot	nfined e Stren	tromet	itent %	(T	(PL)	
	SOIL CLASSIFICA	TION	F	υ	e Type	er Gra ery Gr	ard Pe	Uncor	t Pene	Ire Cor	Limit (	Limit	<u>×</u>
SURF	ACE ELEVATION 6	17.3 FT MSL	Stratur Depth	Depth Scale Sampl	Sampl	Sample Recoving	Standa Test, N	Qu-tsf Compr	PP-tsf Pocket	Moistu	Liquid	Plastic	Remar
	<u>Y</u> Light Gray, Fill			- 1	ST				4.5+	12.6	-		
			0.5						1.5				
CLAY, Mediu	m Stiff to Stiff. Dark	Brown with	2.5	2	ST				0.5				
Limestone Fr	agments, Moist								0.5				
				5 - 3	ST				1.5	20.0			
					- ст				0.5	30.0			
									1.5	28.2	59	23	PI = 36
Light Brow	n at 8.0 Feet			- 5	ST				1.0	20.2		20	11-00
										23.9			
				10 - 6	ST				2.5				
					1								
				-									
Occasiona	I Limestone Seams	14 5 Feet		15 -									50=0.50"
				- 7	ST				4.5+				50=0.50"
				-									
	<b>T</b> 14/ 11 1		18.0	-									
	, Tan, Weathered			-									
	Grav		20.0	20									50-0 75"
	, Olay												50=0.00"
				-									
			25.0							9.0			
End of Boring	at 25 Feet. No grou	undwater was	1	25	THD								50=0.50"
encountered.													50=0.25"
SS - Driven Split 9	<u>pe</u> Spoop	-	Dej	oth to Grou	ndwate	<u>er</u>	f <del>1</del>				цсл	BC	oring Method
ST - Pressed She	lby Tube		At Comp	letion (in a	ugers)		ft.			(	CFA	- Cor	ntinuous Flight Aug
CA - Continuous F RC - Rock Core	light Auger	8 j	At Comp	letion (ope	n hole)		ft.				DC MD	- Driv - Mu	/ing Casing d Drilling
CU - Cuttings		<u> </u>	After	hou	rs		ft.						
CI - Continuous I	upe	<u>₹</u> . /	Cave De	nou nou	15		n. ft.					Ρ	age <b>1</b> of <b>1</b>



LIENT	TIG Real E	Estate							BOR	ING #_	E	8-7			
ROJECT NAME	Northern (	Crossing West						_	JOB	#	7	4.27	982	.00	01
ROJECT LOCATIO	ON SEC Loop	820 & I-35W						_	DRA	WN BY	J	Т			
	Fort Worth	n, TX						_	APPF	ROVED	в <u>ү <b>S</b></u>	SMG			
	DRILLING and S		TION								Т	EST D/	ATA		
Date Started	11/17/06	Hammer Wt.		140	lbs.										
Date Completed	11/17/06	Hammer Drop		30	in.										
Drill Foreman	JC	Spoon Sampler	DD	2	in.										
Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		-	in.				Б.,	gth	ē				
Boring Method	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		3	in.	0	phics aphics		netrati vs/foot	nfined Stren	tromet	itent %	(T	(PL)	
	SOIL CLASSIFICA	TION	E		e	e Type	er Gra ery Gr	dwater	ard Pei V - blov	Uncor essive	t Pene	re Cor	Limit (	: Limit	Š.
SURF	ACE ELEVATION 6	16.1 FT MSL	Stratur Depth	Depth Scale	Sampl No.	Sampl	Sampl	Groun	Standa Test, N	Qu-tsf Compr	PP-tsf Pocket	Moistu	Liquid	Plastic	Remar
<u>FILL</u> , Clay, D	ark Brown				1	ST		-			1.5	-	-	-	
$\bigotimes$											4.5+	20.4			
$\bigotimes$				-	2	ST					2.5				
		and the state of t	4.0			0					1.0	26.7	63	24	PI = 39
<u>CLAY</u> , Mediu Nodules	im Stiff, Dark Brown	with Limestone		5 -	3	SI					0.5	27.8			
				-	4	ST					0.5				
				-						1.6	0.0	27.0			DD = 97.9 pcf
				-	5	ST					1.0				
				10 -								26.5			
					6	ST					2.5				
				-											
					1										
				-											
Occasiona	al Small Limestone S	Seams 14.5 Feet		15 -	7	ST					4.5+				
			16.5	-	-										
	, Tan, weathered			_											
				-											
			20.0	20 -		-	_					40.7			50.050
	Gray			-		THD						10.7			50=0.50" 50=0.25"
				-											
				-											
			25.0	- 								7.5			
End of Boring	g at 25 Feet. No gro	undwater was		20 -		THD									50=1.00"
encountereu.															0.00
Sample Tu						dwate	<u>     </u>							R	pring Method
SS - Driven Split	Spoon	ا ب	Noted or	n Drillir	ig Too	ols _		ft				I	HSA	- Hol	low Stem Augers
ST - Pressed She CA - Continuous F	elby Tube Flight Auger	<u></u>	At Comp	letion	(in au	gers)		_ft				(	CFA DC	- Cor - Driv	ntinuous Flight Au
RC - Rock Core	J	\ ₩ 1	At Comp After	pietion	open) hour	nole <u>)</u> s		ft 	-			i	MD	- Mu	d Drilling
CT - Continuous	Гube	<u>₹</u> /	After		hour	s		ft						P	age <b>1</b> of ⁷
		<u>131</u> (	Cave De	epth				ft						r.	



CLIE	NT	TIG Real Es	state							BOR	ING #_	В	8-8			
PRO	JECT NAME	Northern C	rossing West							JOB	#	7	4.27	982	.00	01
PRO	JECT LOCATIO	N SEC Loop	320 & I-35W						_	DRA	WN BY	J	Т			
		Fort Worth	ТХ							APPI	ROVED	в <u>ү <b>S</b></u>	MG			
		DRILLING and SA	MPLING INFORMA	TION								Т	EST DA	ATA		
Da	ate Started	11/17/06	Hammer Wt.		140	lbs.										
Da	ate Completed	11/17/06	Hammer Drop		30	in.										
Dr	ill Foreman	JC	Spoon Sampler C	D	2	in.										
In	spector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		-	in.				t on	igth	ter	<b>\</b> 0			
Bo	pring Method	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		3	in.		hics		etrati s/foo	ined Strer	ome	ent %		۲)	
							[ype	Grap / Gra	ater	l Pen blow	sive	enetr	Cont	nit (L	mit (I	
				t t	e ב	ble	Iple 1	pler	wpur	idard , N-	sf Ur	sf ket P	sture	id Lir	tic Li	Jarks
	SURF	ACE ELEVATION 61	6.8 FT MSL	Strat Dept	Scal	San No.	San	Sarr	Gro	Star Test	Cort	PP-t Pocl	Mois	Liqu	Plas	Ren
	FILL, Clay, D	ark Brown and Light	Brown		-	1	ST					4.5+				
					-		07					4.5+	40.0			
	×				-	2	SI					4.0	19.2			
	CLAY. Mediur	n Stiff. Dark Brown		4.0	-	3	ST					0.5				
					5 -							0.5	29.3	54	23	PI = 31
					-	4	ST					0.5				
											1.7		22.0			DD = 101.1 pcf
	Light Brow	n with Light Crov Lir	nontono Diagon		-	5	ST					1.5	20 E			
		in with Light Gray Li	nesione rieces		10 -	6	ST					4.5	20.5			
	Tan, Calca	areous with Limestor	e Seams and Thin		-		•									
	Layers															
					-											
-1/	Limestone	Layer 14 - 15 Feet			15 -								00.4			0
					-	7	ST					4 5+	20.1			Swell = 1.08%
_//					-	, ,	01					4.01				
	Gray Shale	e Seam 18 - 19 Feet			-											
				20.0	20 -				ē							
		Gray			.	1	THD									50=0.50" 50=0.50"
	1				-											
Ŧ					-											
<u></u>	4			25.0	- 				19				18.6			
	End of Boring	at 25 Feet. Groundw	ater was		25 -		THD		-							50=0.00"
		at 20.0 i⁻eet. Caved a	at 20.					$\left  \right  $								0.00
Ľ	Sample Typ	De		De	oth to (	Groun	dwate	<u>er</u>				L			Bc	pring Method
SS	- Driven Split S	poon by Tube	● N	loted or	n Drillir	ig Too	ols _	20.	0_ft	t.			H	HSA CE≙	- Hol	low Stem Augers
CA	- Continuous F	light Auger	<u>≰</u> A ⊗ A	t Comp	oletion	(in au (open	yers) hole)		rt ft				[		- Driv	ving Casing
CU	- ROCK Core - Cuttings		A V	fter		hour	s		ft	t.			ſ	VID	- iviu	שוווותם ב
CT	- Continuous T	ube	IN IN A	atter ave De	pth	hour	s	25.	ft 0 ft	i. i.					Р	age <b>1</b> of <b>1</b>



CLIENT	TIG Real I	Estate						BOR	ING #_	E	3-9			
PROJECT NAME	Northern	Crossing West						JOB	#	7	4.27	982	.00	01
PROJECT LOCATIC	N SEC Loop	o 820 & I-35W						DRA	WN BY	<u> </u>	T			
	Fort Wort	h, TX						APP	ROVED	) в <u>ү <b>S</b></u>	6MG			
	DRILLING and S		TION							Т	EST D	ATA		
Date Started	11/18/06	Hammer Wt		140	lbs.									
Date Completed	11/18/06	Hammer Drop		30	in.									
Drill Foreman	JC	_ Spoon Sampler	DD	2	in.									
Inspector	KD	_ Rock Core Dia.		-	in.			5	gth	e l				
Boring Method	CFA	_ Shelby Tube OD		3	in.		hics	etrati s/foot	ned Stren	omet	ent %	<u>د</u>	Ĺ)	
						ype	Grap Grap ater	Pene	iconfi sive (	enetr	Cont	nit (L	mit (F	
	SOIL CLASSIFIC	ATION	E E	د م	ple	ple T	pler ( pvery indw:	dard N-	sf Un	sf (et Pe	ture	id Lin	tic Li	arks
SURF	ACE ELEVATION 6	618.0 FT MSL	Strat Dept	Dept	Sam No.	Sam	Sam Reco Grou	Stan Test	Com Com	PP-t	Mois	Liqui	Plast	Rem
FILL, Sandy (	Clay, Light Gray			-	1	ST				1.5	29.2			
				-						3.5				
			3.0	-	2	ST				2.5				
- CLAY, Mediu	m Stiff, Dark Brown	1		-	2	ет				1.5	22.2			
				5 -	3	51				0.5	32.3			Swell - 1 197%
				-	4	ST				0.5				Swell = 1.19776
				-						0.0				
Light Brov	vn with Light Gray I	_imestone Nodules		-	5	ST				1.5				
	с ,			-							24.3			
				10	6	ST				2.5				
Tan and C	Gray, Calcareous w	ith Limestone Seam		-			$\square$							
				_										
				-										
				- 15 -							22.4	53	22	PI = 31
				-										
				-	7	ST				4.5+				
				-										
				-		о <b>т</b>			0.7	4	15.0			DD 111 5 mot
	Soom 20, 20 5 Eoo	<b>\</b>		20 -	8	51			3.7	4.5+	15.0			D = 111.5 pci
Limestone	Seam 20-20.5 Fee	÷l	000	-										
	Grav with occasion	al Shale Seams	22.0	-										
				-										
1			25.0								13.6			
End of Boring	at 25 Feet. No gro	undwater was		25		THD								50=0.75"
encountered.	-													50=0.125"
Sample Ty	pe		De	oth to C	Groun	dwate	er						Bo	oring Method
SS - Driven Split S ST - Pressed She	spoon Iby Tube	ا <u>و</u> م	Noted of	n Drillin	g Too in au	ols		lt. ff				HSA CFA	- Hol - Cor	Iow Stem Augers htinuous Fliaht Auger
CA - Continuous F	light Auger	<u>₹</u> / ĕ/	At Comp	letion	open	hole)		ft.			l	DC	- Driv	/ing Casing
CU - Cuttings		Ţ,	After		hour	s		ft.			I	VID	- iviu	שחווותם מ
CT - Continuous T	ube	¥ /	After	nth	hour	s		ft. 4					Ρ	age <b>1</b> of <b>1</b>
			Jave De	pun				ι <b>ι</b> .						



LIENT	TIG Real	Estate							BOR	ING #	E	8-10			
ROJECT NAME _	Northern	Crossing West							JOB	#	7	4.27	982	.00	01
ROJECT LOCAT	ION SEC LOO	p 820 & I-35W							DRA	WN BY	J	Т			
	Fort Wor	th, TX							APPF	ROVED	в <u>ү <b>S</b></u>	MG			
	DRILLING and	SAMPLING INFORMA	TION		-						Т	EST DA	٩ΤΑ		
Date Started	11/18/06	Hammer Wt.		140	lbs.										
Date Completed	<u>11/18/06</u>	Hammer Drop		30	in.										
Drill Foreman	JC	Spoon Sampler (	DD	2	_in.										
Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		-	in.				LO	gth	ъ				
Boring Method	CFA	_ Shelby Tube OD		3	in.		hics ohics		etrati s/foot	ned Stren	omet	ent %		Ĺ)	
						ype	Grap	ater	Pene blows	iconfi sive (	enetr	Conte	nit (L	mit (F	
	SOIL CLASSIFIC	CATION	E E	ڪ م	ble	pleT	pler (	:wpur	dard , N - I	sf Un Ipresi	sf (et Pe	sture	id Lin	tic Li	larks
SUR	FACE ELEVATION	614.5 FT MSL	Strat Dept	Dept	Sam No.	Sam	Sam Reco	Grot	Stan Test	Com	PP-t Pock	Mois	Liqui	Plast	Rem
FILL, Clay, I	Dark Brown			-	1	ST					1.0				
$\bigotimes$				·		-					1.5	31.1			
	Brown		3.0	-	2	SI					2.0	23.0	57	22	PI - 34
	biowin			:	- 3	ST					1.5	20.0	01	25	11-34
				5 -							0.5	26.6			
					4	ST					1.5				
				-	-	OT									
Light Bro	wh to Light Gray wi	In Limestone Nodules			5	SI				10	1.5	22.0			DD - 106 1 pcf
				10 -	6	ST				1.5	3.5	22.0			DD = 100.1 pci
Light Bro	own to Light Gray Ca	alcereous			-										
				-											
				15 -	7	ет						18.9			
						51									
Limestor	ne Seam 16.5-17.0 I	Feet		· -											
			10.5	-											
	E Gray with Occasio	onal Shale Seams	19.5	20 -											
						THD									50=1.625" 50=2.25"
			25.0	25 -								12.7			
End of Borir encountered	ng at 25 Feet. No gi d.	roundwater was				THD									50=0.75" 50=0.50"
Sample T	ype		De	oth to (	Groun	dwate	er							Bo	pring Method
SS - Driven Split ST - Pressed Sh	spoon elby Tube	1 <u>e</u> / t	Noted or At Comm	n Drillir eletion	ng Too (in au	ois gers)		_ ft ft				l (	CFA	- Hol - Cor	iow Stem Augers ntinuous Flight Aug
CA - Continuous RC - Rock Core	Flight Auger	图 A	At Comp	letion	(open	hole)		ft				l T	DC MD	- Driv	ving Casing d Drilling
CU - Cuttings	Tube	Ţ, ł ▼	After		hour	s		_ ft ft						-	,
		±. ₩a (	ave De	oth	noul	5 _		_ '\ ft	•					Р	age <b>1</b> of <b>1</b>



CLIE	NT	TIG Real E	state						BOR	ING #_	B	8-11			
PRO	JECT NAME	Northern C	rossing West						JOB	#	7	4.27	982	.00	01
PRO	JECT LOCATIO	N SEC Loop	820 & I-35W						DRA	WN BY	J	Т			
		Fort Worth	, ТХ						APP	ROVED	вү <b>S</b>	MG			
		DRILLING and SA	AMPLING INFORMA	TION		Г			1	1	T	EST DA	ATA		
D	ate Started	11/16/06	Hammer Wt.		1 <b>40</b>	lbs.									
D	ate Completed	11/16/06	Hammer Drop		30	in.									
D	rill Foreman	СТ	Spoon Sampler C	D	2	in.									
In	spector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		-	in.			5	gth	Ē	.0			
B	oring Method	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		3	in.		ohics aphics	ietrati /s/foot	fined Stren	romet	tent %	Î.	PL)	
		SOIL CLASSIFICA	TION	_			type	er Grag ery Gra water	rd Per - blow	Jncon	Penet	e Con	-imit (l	Limit (	ŵ
	SURF	ACE ELEVATION 62	22.5 FT MSL	stratum Jepth	Jepth Scale	sample Jo.	sample	sample secove sround	standa est, N	Du-tsf l	P-tsf ocket	Aoistur	iquid I	lastic	Remark
<u></u>	TOPSOIL Clav	with Organics and	Roots	10		1	ST				4.5+	~			
	<u>CLAY</u> , Hard,	Brown to Tan with L	imestone Pieces	1.0	-		-				4.5+				
						2	ST				4.5+	5.8			
	Rust at 3.0	) Feet			-						4.5+				
					5 —	3	ST				4.5+				
					-		ет				4.5+	12.0	24	15	PI - 10
					-	4	31				4.5+	21.4	34	15	FI= 19
					-	5	ST					21.7			
					-										
	Tan to Rus	t with Tan Weathere	ed Limestone		10 -	6	ST				2.5				
	Layers Hard Limes	stone Layer 11.0 to	11.5 Feet		-										
-//															
					-							20.0			
				40.0	15 —						4 5+	20.0			
		Gray, with occasiona	al Gray Shale	16.0	-						4.01				
4	Seams		2				THD								50=0.50"
_]	-				-										50=0.125"
1	-				20 -										
∄	-					-									
1		at 22 Fast No area	un du votor u voo	22.0	-			-				8.1			50.075"
	encountered.	al 22 Feel. No glot	inuwater was				טחו								50=0.75
					41										
SS	Sample Typ - Driven Split S	<u>pe</u> poon	• N	<u>De</u> loted or	oth to C n Drillin	a Too	<u>dwate</u> ols	<u>er</u> 1	t.			ł	ISA	<u>Bo</u> Holl -	o <u>ring Method</u> Iow Stem Auaers
ST	- Pressed Shell	by Tube	± A	t Comp	letion	in au	gers)	1	t.			( 1	CFA	- Cor	ntinuous Flight Augers
RC	- Rock Core	igni Auger	A 🗟	t Comp	letion	open	hole]	1 1	t. +			ſ	MD	- Muc	d Drilling
CU CT	<ul> <li>Cuttings</li> <li>Continuous Ti</li> </ul>	ube	¥ A ¥ A	fter		hour	s _	1	t. Tt.					Þ	ane 1 of 1
			Ra C	ave De	pth		_	1	t.					r.	



CLIENT	TIG Real E	state							BOR	ING #_	В	8-12			
PROJECT NAME	Northern C	Crossing West						_	JOB	#	7	4.27	98 <u>2</u>	.00	01
PROJECT LOCATION	SEC Loop	820 & I-35W							DRA	WN BY	J	Т			
	Fort Worth	, <b>TX</b>						_	APPI	ROVED	в <u>ч <b>S</b></u>	MG			
	DRILLING and S/	AMPLING INFORMA	TION		_						Т	EST DA	٩ΤΑ		
Date Started	11/16/06	Hammer Wt.		140	lbs.										
Date Completed	11/16/06	Hammer Drop		30	in.										
Drill Foreman	JC	Spoon Sampler (		2	in.										
Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		-	in.				c	Ę	5				
Boring Method _	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		3	in.	ð	aphics raphics	er.	enetratio ws/foot	nfined e Streng	etromete	ontent %	(LLL)	t (PL)	
	SOIL CLASSIFICA	TION	E		<u>e</u>	le Typ	ler Gr /ery G	Idwate	ard Pe N - blo	f Unco ressiv	et Pen	rre Co	Limit	c Limit	š
SURFA	CE ELEVATION 62	20.0 FT MSL	Stratu Depth	Depth Scale	Samp No.	Samp	Samp Recov	Groun	Stand Test, I	Qu-tsl Comp	PP-tsf Pocke	Moistu	Liquid	Plastic	Rema
TOPSOIL Clay	with Organics and	Roots	1.0	-	1	ST					3.5				
- <u>CLAY</u> , Hard to	Stiff, Light Brown v	vith Limestone									4.5+	15.6			
				-	2	ST					4.5+				
				-	3	ST					1.25				
				5 -		0.					4.0	16.8			
				-	4	ST					4.0				
Slightly Sha	ley at 7.5 Feet			-						4.0		22.0			DD =106.0 pcf
				-	5	ST					4.5+				
				10 -								24.8	58	23	PI = 35
				-											
				_											
			13.5	-											
SHALE, Gray				-	H	THD						14.5			50=1.00"
			16.0	- 15											50=0.75"
	Bray with Small Sha	ale Seams		-											
				-								70			
End of Boring a	at 19 Feet No arou	indwater was	19.0	-		тно	-					1.9			50=0.50"
encountered.															50=0.00"
Sample Type	<u>e</u>		De	oth to C	Groun	dwate	er							Bo	pring Method
SS - Driven Split Sp ST - Pressed Shelb	ooon oy Tube	ا <u>ہ</u> ح	Noted or At Comr	n Drillir pletion	ig Too (in au	ols aers)		_ ft ft	•			H	HSA CFA	- Hol - Cor	Iow Stem Augers htinuous Flight Augers
CA - Continuous Fli RC - Rock Core	ght Auger		At Comp	letion	(open	hole)		ft				[	DC MD	- Driv	ving Casing
CU - Cuttings	lbo.	<u>v</u>	After		hour	s		ft				'			
CT - Continuous Lu	IDG.	kā ( Ā )	Cave De	epth	nour	°		ft						P	age <b>1</b> of <b>1</b>



	TIG Real Es	tate							BOR	ING #_	B	<u>8-13</u>			
PROJECT NAME	Northern Cr	ossing West						_	JOB	#	7	4.27	<u>982</u>	.00	01
PROJECT LOCATIC	N SEC Loop 8	20 & I-35W							DRA	WN BY	J	Т			
	Fort Worth,	ТХ							APPI	ROVED	вү <b>S</b>	MG			
	DRILLING and SA	MPLING INFORMA	TION								Т	EST D/	ATA		
Date Started	11/16/06	Hammer Wt.		<b>140</b>	bs.										
Date Completed	11/16/06	Hammer Drop		<b>30</b> i	in.										
Drill Foreman	JC	Spoon Sampler C	DD	i	in.										
Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		i	n.		S		t io	ngth	ater	%			
Boring Method	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		<u>3</u> i	n.	۵.	aphics aphic	L	netrat ws/foo	nfined Stre	trome	ntent 6	(TT)	(PL)	
	SOIL CLASSIFICAT	ION	E		e	e Type	er Gra ery Gr	dwatei	ard Pe N - blov	Uncor	t Pene	re Coi	Limit (	: Limit	
SURF	ACE ELEVATION 622	2.0 FT MSL	Stratur Depth	Depth Scale	Sampl No.	Sampl	Sampl	Groun	Standa Test, N	Qu-tsf Compr	PP-tsf Pocket	Moistu	Liquid	Plastic	Remar
TOPSOIL Cla	y with Organics and F	Roots	1.0		1	ST					1.0	18.4			
CLAY, Hard,	Dark Brown			]							2.0				
Decking the	rouno unita linat	Vodulos Maist			2	ST					4.5+	18.9	56	23	PI = 33
Reddish bi	rown with Limestone i	Nodules, Moist			3	ST				43	4.5+	18.3			DD - 113 7 pcf
				5 -	Ŭ	01					4.5+	18.1			
					4	ST									
Large Lime	estone Pieces at 7.0 F	Feet		-]											
					5	ST					2.0				
				10 -	6	ет					451				
				]	0	31					4.5+				
				-											
	Tan, Weathered		14.5	15 -	_	THD	-					11.9			50=0.125"
	rail, reculiered														50=0.00"
				-											
<b>—</b>			18.5												
	Gray, Occasional Sha	ale Seams				THD									50=0.75"
															50=0.75"
End of Boring	at 24 Feet No arour	dwater was	24.0	1		тнп						26.4			50-0.00"
encountered.		idwater was				me									50=0.00"
			<u> </u>											<u> </u>	
SS - Driven Split S	<u>pe</u> Spoon	• •	<u>De</u> וס loted	pth to G Drilling	round 1 Too	<u>dwate</u> Is	<u>er</u>	ft					HSA	<u>Bo</u> - Hol	oring Method low Stem Augers
ST - Pressed She	lby Tube	± A	t Comp	pletion (i	n au	gers)		ft				(	CFA	- Cor	ntinuous Flight Aug
RC - Rock Core	iigint Auger	ĕ A	t Comp	letion (c	pen	hole <u>)</u>		ft	•			i	MD	- Mu	d Drilling
CU - Cuttings CT - Continuous T	ube	¥ ¥ ¥ A	ter		hours	> \$		n ft						P	ane <b>1</b> of <b>1</b>
		Ra C	ave De	pth		_		ft						Р	aye I UI I



Northern Crossing West         ROJECT LOCATION       SEC Loop 820 & I-35W         Fort Worth, TX         DRILLING and SAMPLING INFORMATION         Date Started       11/16/06         Hammer Wt.       140         Date Completed       11/16/06         Hammer Drop       30         Drill Foreman       CT         Spoon Sampler OD       2         Inspector       KD         Boring Method       CFA	_lbs. _in. _in. _in. _in.	JOB DRA APP	# WN BY ROVED	<b>7</b>  ВҮ <b>S</b> 	4.279 T MG EST D/	982 ATA	.00	
SEC Loop 820 & I-35W         Fort Worth, TX         DRILLING and SAMPLING INFORMATION         Date Started       11/16/06       Hammer Wt.       140         Date Completed       11/16/06       Hammer Drop       30         Drill Foreman       CT       Spoon Sampler OD       2         Inspector       KD       Rock Core Dia.       -         Boring Method       CFA       Shelby Tube OD       3	_lbs. _in. _in. _in. _in.		WN BY ROVED	 ВҮ <b>S</b> ТІ	T MG EST D/			
Fort Worth, TX         DRILLING and SAMPLING INFORMATION         Date Started       11/16/06       Hammer Wt.       140         Date Completed       11/16/06       Hammer Drop       30         Drill Foreman       CT       Spoon Sampler OD       2         Inspector       KD       Rock Core Dia.       -         Boring Method       CFA       Shelby Tube OD       3	_lbs. _in. _in. _in. _in.	APP	ROVED	вү <u></u> <b>S</b> ті	EST D	ATA		
DRILLING and SAMPLING INFORMATION         Date Started       11/16/06       Hammer Wt.       140         Date Completed       11/16/06       Hammer Drop       30         Drill Foreman       CT       Spoon Sampler OD       2         Inspector       KD       Rock Core Dia.       -         Boring Method       CFA       Shelby Tube OD       3	_lbs. _in. _in. _in. _in.			TI	EST DA			
Date Started         11/16/06         Hammer Wt.         140           Date Completed         11/16/06         Hammer Wt.         30           Drill Foreman         CT         Spoon Sampler OD         2           Inspector         KD         Rock Core Dia.         -           Boring Method         CFA         Shelby Tube OD         3	_lbs. _in. _in. _in. _in.							
Date Completed       11/16/06       Hammer Drop       30         Drill Foreman       CT       Spoon Sampler OD       2         Inspector       KD       Rock Core Dia.       -         Boring Method       CFA       Shelby Tube OD       3	_in. _in. _in. <u></u>							
Drill Foreman       CT       Spoon Sampler OD       2         Inspector       KD       Rock Core Dia.       -         Boring Method       CFA       Shelby Tube OD       3	_in. _in. _in	_						
Inspector     KD     Rock Core Dia.     -       Boring Method     CFA     Shelby Tube OD     3	_inin							
Boring Method CFA Shelby Tube OD 3	_inin.	l ō	gth	er	.0			
		netrati vs/foo	nfined Strer	trome	itent %	(T	(PL)	
SOIL CLASSIFICATION	e Type er Gra ery Gri	ard Pe	Uncor ressive	t Pene	Ire Cor	Limit (	Limit	sk
SURFACE ELEVATION 622.2 FT MSL	Sampl Sampl Sampl Group	Standa Test, h	Qu-tsf Compi	PP-tsf Pocke	Moistu	Liquid	Plastic	Remai
TOPSOIL Clay with Organics and Roots 1.0	1 ST			3.5				
CLAY, Hard, Dark Brown to Tan with Limestone	-			4.5+	17.1			
	2 ST			4.5+				
				4.5+				
Tan to Rust with Limestone Pieces				4.5+				
	- 4 ST			4.5+	7.9			
				4.5+	9.4	47	21	PI = 19
	5 ST			4.5+				Swell = 0.673%
				4.5+	12.4			
	- 6 ST							
	$\frac{1}{2}$							
LIMESTONE Tan Weathered with Tan to Rust Clav								
Seams								
	- 7 ST			4.5+				
	8 ST			4.5+				
19.5	-							
LIMESTONE Tan, to Gray with Gray Shale Seams 20 -								50=0.625"
	4				8.8			50=0.25"
	]							
	1							
25.0 25 - 25.0 25 - 25.0 25 - 25.0 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 25 - 25								F0 0 75"
encountered.								50=0.75" 50=0.375"
Sample Type Depth to 0	Groundwater						Br	ring Method
SS - Driven Split Spoon	ng Tools	ft.			H	ISA	- Hol	ow Stem Augers
SI - Pressed Shelby Tube & At Completion ( CA - Continuous Flight Auger	(in augers)	ft.			( [	JFA DC	- Cor - Driv	itinuous Flight Aug ring Casing
RC - Rock Core At Completion ( CU - Cuttings V After	hours	n. ft.			r	MD	- Muo	d Drilling
CT - Continuous Tube	hours	ft.					Р	age 1 of 1



LIENT	TIG Real Es	state							BOR	ING #_	B	<u>-15</u>			
ROJECT NAME	Northern C	rossing West						_	JOB	#	7	4.27	982	.00	01
ROJECT LOCATIO	N SEC Loop 8	320 & I-35W							DRA	WN BY	J	Т			
	Fort Worth,	тх							APP	ROVED	вү S	MG			
	DRILLING and SA	MPLING INFORMA	TION								Т	EST DA	ATA		
Date Started	11/16/06	Hammer Wt.		140	lbs.										
Date Completed	11/16/06	Hammer Drop		30	in.										
Drill Foreman	JC	Spoon Sampler C	DD	2	in.										
Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		-	in.				Б	gth	e				
Boring Method	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		3	_in.		ohics aphics		ietratic /s/foot	fined	romet	tent %	(T)	PL)	
	SOIL CLASSIFICAT	ION	_			Type	r Grap	water	rd Pen - blow	Jnconi	Penet	e Con	-imit (L	Limit (	ý
SURFA	ACE ELEVATION 61	7.2 FT MSL	tratum epth	lepth cale	ample lo.	ample	ample	round	tandai est, N	u-tsf L	P-tsf ocket	loistur	iquid L	astic	temark
	with Organics and	Roots	00	<u>с</u> о	ທ Z - 1	о ST	ഗല	U	ω⊢	00		2		<u> </u>	<u>۳</u>
CLAY Dark B	rown with Limestone	Nodules	1.0	-		-									
Limestone	Seam 1.5-2.0 Feet			-	2	SPT	M1		35						
				-											
				5 -	3	ST						16.7			
				-											
				-						12		10.0	50	22	DD = 101.0  pcf
Brown to Li	ight Grav with Limes	tone Nodules at		-	4	ST				1.5		10.2	50	23	PI = 35
8.0 Feet				-	- 5	ST									
				10 -	-										
				-											
				_											
			14.5	-											
	Tan, Weathered		100	15 -		THD									50=1.50"
	with Grav Limestone	Seams	16.0	-								14.8			50=2.00"
Limestone	Seam 17-17.5 Feet			-											
				-											
	Grav with Occasiona	I Shale Seams	19.5	20 -											
			21.0									12.5			
End of Boring encountered.	at 21 Feet. No grou	ndwater was				THD									50=0.50" 50=0.00"
Sample Typ	<u>e</u>		<u>De</u>	oth to (	Groun	dwate	<u>er</u>	£.						Bo	ring Method
ST - Pressed Shell	by Tube		t Com	bletion	ig 100 (in au	אנ (aers		rt ft				1	CFA	- Holl - Cor	ntinuous Flight Auge
CA - Continuous Fl RC - Rock Core	light Auger	ā A	t Comp	oletion	(open	hole		ft				[ r		- Driv - Muo	ring Casing
CU - Cuttings	uh a	⊻ A	fter		hour	s		ft	-						
CI - Continuous I	adu	¥ A Bal	ave De	onth	nour	s _		rt 	-					P	age <b>1</b> of <b>1</b>



CLIENT	TIG Real Estate	)						BOF	RING #_	E	8-16			
PROJECT NAME	Northern Cross	sing West						JOB	#	7	4.27	<u>982</u>	.00	01
PROJECT LOCATIO	N SEC Loop 820	& I-35W						DRA	WN BY	<u> </u>	T			
	Fort Worth, TX							APP	ROVED	) BY <b>S</b>	SMG			
	DRILLING and SAMPL	ING INFORMA	TION		٦				1	<u> </u>	EST D	ATA	1	
Date Started	<b>11/18/06</b> Ha	ammer Wt		140	lbs.									
Date Completed	<b>11/18/06</b> Ha	ammer Drop		30	in.									
Drill Foreman	JC Sp	oon Sampler C	DD	2	in.									
Inspector	KD Ro	ock Core Dia.		-	in.			5	gth	e				
Boring Method _	CFA St	elby Tube OD		3_	in.	e	aphics <u>Braphics</u>	enetrati ows/foo	onfined /e Stren	letromet	ontent %	(TT)	t (PL)	
	SOIL CLASSIFICATION		Ę	5 0	ele	ole Typ	very G	N - bl	f Unco	if et Pen	ure Co	d Limit	ic Limi	arks
SURFA	ACE ELEVATION 627.1 F	TMSL	Stratu Depth	Deptt Scale	Samr No	Samp	Reco	Stanc Test,	Qu-ts Comp	PP-ts Pock	Moist	Liquic	Plasti	Remé
	y with Organics and Root	S	1.0		1	ST								
CLAY Dark Br	own					07				4.5+	19.3			
					2	51				4.5+				
					3	ST				4.5+				
				5 -	-	•				4.5+	14.0			
Light Brown	n with Limestone Fragme	nts			4	ST				4.5+				
					5	ST				4.5+				
				10 -		от					21.7			
					6	SI				4.5+				
											18.4	55	23	PI = 32
-0				15	7	ST				4.5+				
-				20 -	_	<b>о</b> т				4.5.	00.4			
			00.0	]	ŏ	51				4.5+	20.1			
	Gray with occasional Sha	le Seams	22.0											
	,													
<u>]</u>			25.0	25 _										
End of Boring	at 25 Feet. No groundwa	ater was		25		THD								50=1.00"
														00-0.00
Sample Tvr			Dei	th to G	round	dwate	r F		1		1	1	Br	ring Method
SS - Driven Split S	poon	≜ N	loted or	n Drilling	g Too	ols _	_	ft.			I	HSA	- Hol	low Stem Augers
CA - Continuous Fl	oy Tube ight Auger	£ A ⊼ ∧	At Comp	letion (i	n aug	gers)		ft.				UFA DC	- Cor - Driv	ntinuous Flight Auger /ing Casing
RC - Rock Core	-	ey A I III	After		hours	s siole		ft.			I	MD	- Mu	d Drilling
CT - Continuous Tu	ube	¥ A	After		hours	s		ft.					Р	age <b>1</b> of <b>1</b>
		BE C	Cave De	pth				ft.						-



CLIENT	TIG Real E	state							BOR	ING #_	B	8-17			
PROJECT NAME	Northern C	Crossing West						_	JOB	#	7	4.27	982	.00	01
PROJECT LOCATIO	N SEC Loop	820 & I-35W							DRA	WN BY	J	Т			
	Fort Worth	, TX							APPF	ROVED	в <u>ч <b>S</b></u>	MG			
	DRILLING and SA	AMPLING INFORMA	TION								T	EST DA	٩ΤΑ		
Date Started	11/18/06	Hammer Wt.		140	lbs.										
Date Completed	11/18/06	Hammer Drop		30	in.										
Drill Foreman	JC	Spoon Sampler C	DD	2	in.										
Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		-	in.				t ou	igth	er	.0			
Boring Method _	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		3	in.		phics		etrati s/foo	ined Strer	ome	tent %	<u>ب</u>	L)	
						Type	, Grap	/ater	l Pen blow	nconf ssive	eneti	Cont	mit (L	imit (I	
	SOIL CLASSIFICA	non	tt m	e e	nple	- uple	over	wpun	ndarc t, N -	tsf Ui npres	tsf ket P	sture	lid Li	stic L	narks
SURFA	ACE ELEVATION 6	19.4 FT MSL	Stra Dep	Dep Sca	San No.	San	San Rec	Gro	Star Tes	Qu- Con	PP- Poc	Moi	Ligu	Plas	Ren
FILL, Sandy C	lay, Light Gray			-	1	ST						10.0			
	ark Brown with Lim	ostono Piesos	2.0		2	ст					4.5+				
Moist	an Diowit Willi LIM			-		31					4.5+ 2.5				Swell = 0.668%
					3	ST					2.5	19.2	62	24	PI = 38
				5-							2.0	23.0			
Light Brow	n at 6.0 Feet			-	4	ST					4.0				
				-	5	ет					451				
				-	5	31					4.5+				
Calcareous	with bentonine sear	ms at 10.0 Feet		10 -	-						4.5+				
				-											
- Tan Limest	one Seam 13.5-14	Feet		-	-							47.7			
	Seam 15-15 5 Feet			15 -	6	ST					4 5+	17.7			
				-	-						1.01				
- Gray Shale	Seams 18-19.5 Fe	et	19.5	-											
	Gray		13.5	20 -		TUD	_								FO 4 75"
	Hard 21-22 Feet		22.0	-		טחין									50=1.75
End of Boring,	Refusal at 22 Feet	No groundwater	2.0	-		THD									50=0.00"
was encounter	red.														50=0.00"
												19.1			
Sample Typ	00		De	oth to C	Groun	dwate	er							Bo	ring Method
SS - Driven Split S ST - Pressed Shell	poon by Tube		loted or t Comr	n Drillin Detion	g Too in au	ols aers)		_ ft ft				H	HSA CFA	- Hol - Cor	ow Stem Augers htinuous Flight Auger
CA - Continuous Fl RC - Rock Core	light Auger	ā A	t Comp	letion	open	hole		ft				1 1	DC MD	- Driv - Muo	ring Casing d Drilling
CU - Cuttings	ube	V A	fter		hour	s		ft ft				•			g
		nā ( 	ave De	epth	noul			ft						P	age 1 of 1



PROJECT NAME       74.27982.0001         PROJECT LOCATION       SEC Loop 820 & I-SSW         PROJECT LOCATION       SEC Loop 820 & I-SSW         DRULING and SAMPLING INFORMATION         TEST DATA         DBILLING and SAMPLING INFORMATION         Date Standed       TEST DATA         Date Standed       TEST DATA         Date Standed       TEST DATA         Date Complete Infigure       Test DATA         Date Standed       TEST DATA         Solic CLASSIFICATION       TEST DATA         Solic Classific ATION       TEST T         Solic Classific ATION <th col<="" th=""><th>CLIENT</th><th>TIG Real Es</th><th>state</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>BOR</th><th>ING #_</th><th>E</th><th>8-18</th><th></th><th></th><th></th></th>	<th>CLIENT</th> <th>TIG Real Es</th> <th>state</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>BOR</th> <th>ING #_</th> <th>E</th> <th>8-18</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>	CLIENT	TIG Real Es	state							BOR	ING #_	E	8-18			
PROJECT LOCATION <u>SEC Loop 820 84-55W</u> <u>Provide the second secon</u>	PROJECT NAME	Northern C	rossing West							JOB	#	7	4.27	982	.00	01	
Fort Worth, TX     DPROVED BY_SMG       Date Stated     11/18/06     Hammer VIL     140     bs.       Date Stated     11/18/06     Hammer VIL     140     bs.       Differences     JC     Spoon Sampler OD     2     n.       Boring Method     CFA     Shelby Tube OD     3     n.       SURFACE ELEVATION 622.5 FT MSL     96 df     98 df     98 df     98 df     97 df       SURFACE ELEVATION 622.5 FT MSL     96 df     96 df     97 df     1.5     21.5     21.5       SURFACE ELEVATION 622.6 FT MSL     10     1     1     ST     4.5 df     4.0       Module     SURFACE ELEVATION 622.5 FT MSL     96 df     96 df     97 df     97 df     97 df     97 df       Module     SURFACE ELEVATION 622.5 FT MSL     10     1     1     ST     1.5     21.5     21.5       Brown at 5.0 Feet     10     1     1     ST     3.0     1.5     21.5     2.0     17.5       Brown at 5.0 Feet     10     1     1     5     7     3.0     1.5     50-0.75'       Soards     11.0 Feet     10     1     5     7     3.0     10.4     50-1.00'       Soards     12.0 Feet     10     1	PROJECT LOCATION	N SEC Loop 8	320 & I-35W							DRA	WN BY	J	Т				
DRILLING and SAMPLING INFORMATION         TEST Data           Date Scampleted         11/118/06         Hammer Wit         140         Ex           Date Scampleted         11/118/06         Hammer Diog         30         in           Diff Foreman         JC         Spoon Sampler OD         2         in           Solid CLASSIFICATION         Solid CLASSIFICATION         in         in         in           Support         Solid CLASSIFICATION         in         in         in         in           Support         Solid CLASSIFICATION         in         in         in         in         in           Support         Support         Support         in		Fort Worth,	ТХ							APPI	ROVED	в <u>ү <b>S</b></u>	MG				
Date Started       11/18/06       Hammer IVt.       140_tbs.         Date Completed       11/18/06       Hammer Dop.       30. n.         Dill Foroma       JC       Spool Sampler OD       1.0         Solic CLASSIFICATION       Solic CLASSIFICATION       Spool Sampler OD       1.0         SUBFACE ELEVATION 622.5 FT MSL       Spool Sampler OD       1.0       1.5       21.5         CLAX_SIFICATION       Spool Sampler OD       1.0       1.5       21.5       2.5         SUBFACE ELEVATION 622.5 FT MSL       Spool Sampler OD       1.0       1.5       2.5       1.5       2.5.5         CLAX_SIFICATION       Spool Sampler OD       3.0       1.5       2.5.5       1.5       2.5.5         Brown at 5.0 Feet       1.0       1.5       5       5       3.0       17.5       2.6.5       2.0       17.5       2.5       1.0       5       5       1.0       5       5       1.0       5       5       1.0       5       5       1.0       5       5       1.0       1.5       2.0       1.5       2.0       1.5       2.0       1.5       2.0       1.5       2.0       1.5       2.0       1.5       2.0       1.5       2.0       1.5		DRILLING and SA	MPLING INFORMA	TION								Т	EST DA	ATA		]	
Date Completed 11/18/06       Hammer Drop       30       n.         Drift Forman       JC       Spoon Sampler OD       2       in.         Inspector       Rok Core Dia.       in.       in.       in.       in.         Solid CLASSIFICATION       Edge dia dia gine gine gine gine gine gine gine gine	Date Started	11/18/06	Hammer Wt.		140	lbs.											
Duil Forman       JC       Spoon Sampler CD       2       n.         Inspector       KD       Rook Core Dia.       n.       n.         Boing Method       CFA       Shelty Tube CD       .       n.         SURFACE ELEVATION       Surface Section       Surface Section       .       .       .         With DESCUL CLASSFICATION       Surface Section       .       .       .       .       .         SURFACE ELEVATION 622.8 FT MSL       Sufface Section       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .	Date Completed	11/18/06	Hammer Drop		30	in.											
Inspector       KD       Rock Core Dia.       - n.         Bering Method       GFA       Shaby Tube OD       3       n.         SURFACE ELEVATION 622.5 FT MSL       grad base of the state	Drill Foreman	JC	Spoon Sampler C	DD	2	in.											
Boring Method       CFA       Shelby Tube OD       3       n.       Image of the second	Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		-	in.				t ol	ngth	fe	~				
SOL CLASSIFICATION       Image: Constraint of the second of	Boring Method	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		3	in.		ohics		ietrati /s/foo	fined Strer	rome	tent %	_	PL)		
SURFACE LEVATION 622.5 FT MSL       and base of the second s		SOIL CLASSIFICAT	ION				Type	r Graj	vater	d Per - blov	Incon ssive	Penet	e Con	imit (I	-imit (	v	
SURFACE ELEVATION 622.5 FT MSL       # 6       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8       # 8				oth	pth ale	nple	nple		Vpunc	indar st, N	-tsf U mpre	-tsf cket I	isture	uid L	stic L	mark	
DOESCIL Clay with Organics and Roots       1.0       1       ST       1.5       21.5       2.4       3       ST       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.0       4.5       2.1.3       1.5       2.6.2       58       23       PI = 35       2.0       17.5       2.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       10.4       50=1.00°       50=0.75°       50=0.75°       50=0.75°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=	SURFA	ACE ELEVATION 62	2.5 FT MSL	Def	N Del	Sai No.	Sar	Sal Rei	ğ	Sta Tes	SS	Ч Ч С С	м	Lig	Pla	L S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	
Heart, Sum or reid, Dark Brown with Limestone       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       - <td< td=""><td></td><td>with Organics and</td><td>Roots</td><td>1.0</td><td>  -</td><td>1</td><td>ST</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>4 -</td><td>01 -</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>		with Organics and	Roots	1.0	-	1	ST					4 -	01 -				
Brown at 5.0 Feet       2.3       4.0       4.0         Brown at 5.0 Feet       5       3       ST       4.0         5	Nodules	Hard, Dark Brown w	ith Limestone		-	2	ет					1.5 2.5	21.5				
Brown at 5.0 Feet       5       3       ST       4       40       40       40       45+       21.3       15       26.2       58       23       PI = 35         Calcareous with Bentonite Seams at 11.0 Feet       5       ST       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       3.0       17.5       10.4       50=1.00°       50=0.75°         Tan Limestone Seam 12.5-13 Feet       17.0       15       7       ST       4.5+       4.5+       10.4       50=1.00°       50=0.75°       50=0.75°       50=0.75°       50=0.75°       50=0.75°       50=0.75°       50=0.75°       50=0.50°         End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was encountered.       20.0       THD       10.4       50=1.00°       50=0.50°         Sample Type       End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was encountered.       21.0       THD       10.4       50=0.75°       50=0.50°         Sample Type       Ontorian Drilling Tools       ft.       Solids on Drilling Tools       ft.       Solids on Drilling Tools       ft.       HSA. + Holow Stein Augers CFA - Continuous Flight Auger					-	2						2.5					
Brown at 5.0 Feet       5       -       4.5+       21.3       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       -       - <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>3</td> <td>ST</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>4.0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>					-	3	ST					4.0					
Calcareous with Bentonite Seams at 11.0 Feet         Tan Limestone Seam 12.5-13 Feet         Tan Limestone Seam 15.16 Feet         UMESTONE Gray with occasional Gray Shale         Seams         Limestone Seam 12.5-13 Feet         Tan Limestone Seam 15.16 Feet         UMESTONE Gray with occasional Gray Shale         Seams         20         End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was encountered.         20         THD         20         THD         Sample Type         Depth to Groundwater         So Driven Split Spon         St At Completion (na ugers)         ft.         At fer         hours         K Atter         Noted on Drilling Tools         ft.         X Atter         Hours         K Atter         hours         K Atter         hours         K Atter         hours       ft.         Y Atter       hours       ft.         Y Atter       hours       ft.         Y Atter       hours       ft.         Y Atter       hours       ft.         Y Atter <t< td=""><td>Brown at 5.</td><td>0 Feet</td><td></td><td></td><td>5</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>4.5+</td><td>21.3</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Brown at 5.	0 Feet			5							4.5+	21.3				
Calcareous with Bentonite Seams at 11.0 Feet Tan Limestone Seam 12.5-13 Feet Tan Limestone Seam 15-16 Feet LIMESTONE Gray with occasional Gray Shale End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was encountered. THD End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was THD End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was THD Depth to Groundwater S - Driven Split Spon ST - Pressed Shelby Tube C - Continuous Flight Auger RC - Rock Core CU - Cuttings T - Continuous Tube T - Continuous Tube					-	4	ST					1.5					
Calcareous with Bentonite Seams at 11.0 Feet Tan Limestone Seam 12.5-13 Feet Tan Limestone Seam 15-16 Feet Tan Limestone Seam 15-16 Feet Limestone Seam 15-16 Feet Tan Limestone Seam						-							26.2	58	23	PI = 35	
Calcareous with Bentonite Seams at 11.0 Feet Tan Limestone Seam 12.5-13 Feet Tan Limestone Seam 15-16 Feet Limestone Seam 15-16 Feet Seams End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was encountered. Sample Type Sample Type Sa					-	5	ST					2.0					
Calcareous with Bentonite Seams at 11.0 Feet Tan Limestone Seam 12.5-13 Feet Tan Limestone Seam 15-16 Feet UMESTONE Gray with occasional Gray Shale Seams End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was encountered. Sample Type Sample Type Sample Type Source Split Spoon ST - Pressed Shelby Tube CALCORDETIONE ST - Pressed Shelby Tube CALCORDETIONE ST - Pressed Shelby Tube CALCORDETIONE ST - Pressed Shelby Tube CALCORDETIONE ST - Continuous Flight Auger RC - Rock Core CU - Cuttings CT - Continuous Stube St - Rock Core CU - Cuttings CU - Cutti					10 -							2.0	17.5				
Tan Limestone Seam 12.5-13 Feet       15       7       ST       4.5+         Tan Limestone Seam 15-16 Feet       17.0       15       7       ST       4.5+         UMESTONE Gray with occasional Gray Shale       17.0       10.4       50=1.0°       50=0.75°         Seams       20       20       10.4       50=1.0°       50=0.75°         End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was encountered.       22.0       10.4       50=0.75°       50=0.75°         Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       20.0       10.4       50=0.75°       50=0.75°         So=0.50°       Noted on Drilling Tools       ft.       HSA - Hollow Stem Augers CFA - Continuous Flight Auger       6A t Completion (one hole)       ft.       CFA - Continuous Flight Auger         R A text moles in thouses       Y After hours ft.       Page 1 of 1       Model on Tilling	Calcareous	with Bentonite Sear	ms at 11.0 Feet		-	0	51					3.0					
I an Limestone Seam 12.5-13 Feet       Image: constraint of the seam 15-16 Feet       Image:					-	-											
Tan Limestone Seam 15-16 Feet       17.0       15       7       ST       4.5+         LIMESTONE Gray with occasional Gray Shale       17.0       10.4       50=1.00°       50=0.75°         Seams       20       10.4       50=0.75°       50=0.75°       50=0.75°         End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was encountered.       22.0       10.4       50=0.75°       50=0.75°         Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       20.0       10.4       50=0.75°       50=0.50°         So = 0.75°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°       50=0.50°         So = 0.75° so=0.50°       9       Noted on Drilling Tools       ft.       10.4       50=0.50°         So = 0.75° so=0.50°       9       Noted on Drilling Tools       ft.       10.4       10.4       10.4         So = 0.75°       9       Noted on Drilling Tools       ft.       10.4       10.4       10.4         So = 0.50°       9       Noted on Drilling Tools       ft.       10.4       10.4       10.4         So = 0.50°       9       Noted on Drilling Tools       ft.       10.4       10.4       10.4         C - Orinuous Flight Auger       8       At Completion (in augers)       ft.       10.4		one Seam 12.5-13 F	eet		-												
Tan Limestone Seam 15-16 Feet       17.0       Tan Limestone Seam 15-16 Feet       4.5+         LIMESTONE Gray with occasional Gray Shale       17.0       THD       10.4       50=1.00°         Seams       20       20       THD       10.4       50=0.75°         End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was encountered.       22.0       THD       50=0.75°       50=0.75°         Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       50=0.75°       50=0.75°       50=0.50°         Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       50=0.75°       50=0.50°         S - Driven Split Spoon       • Noted on Drilling Tools       ft.       HSA - Hollow Stem Augers         C - Rock Core       • At Completion (in augers)       ft.       CFA - Continuous Flight Auger         C - Continuous Tube       • After hours ft.       Page 1 of 1					15												
Image: Display time in the series of the	- Tan Limest	one Seam 15-16 Fe	et		-	7	ST					4.5+					
Seams       20       1110       1014       50=0.75"         End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was encountered.       20       1110       50=0.75"       50=0.75"         Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       50=0.75"       50=0.75"       50=0.75"       50=0.75"         Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       20       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110         Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       20       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110         Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110       1110		Grav with occasional	Grav Shale	17.0	-		тно	-					10.4			50-1.00"	
End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was encountered.       22.0       Image: transmit and tran					-								10.4			50=0.75"	
End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was encountered.       22.0       20       1       THD       1       50=0.75"         Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       20.0       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1					-												
Image: Second					20 -												
End of Boring at 22 Feet. No groundwater was encountered.       Image: THD mark the second seco				22.0	-												
Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       Boring Method         SS - Driven Split Spoon       Noted on Drilling Toolsft.       HSA - Hollow Stem Augers         CA - Continuous Flight Auger       At Completion (in augers)ft.       DC - Driving Casing         RC - Rock Core       ¥ After hoursft.       DC - Driving Casing         CU - Cuttings       ¥ After hoursft.       Page 1 of 1	End of Boring encountered.	at 22 Feet. No grou	ndwater was				THD									50=0.75" 50=0.50"	
Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       Boring Method         SS - Driven Split Spoon          • Noted on Drilling Tools        ft.       HSA - Hollow Stem Augers         ST - Pressed Shelby Tube          • At Completion (in augers)        ft.          CFA - Continuous Flight Auger         CA - Continuous Flight Auger         At Completion (open hole)         ft.          DC - Driving Casing         MD - Mud Drilling         Cu - Cuttings         CT - Continuous Tube          After hours        ft.         Page 1 of 1																	
Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       Boring Method         SS - Driven Split Spoon          • Noted on Drilling Toolsft.       HSA - Hollow Stem Augers         ST - Pressed Shelby Tube          • At Completion (in augers)ft.          CFA - Continuous Flight Auger         CA - Continuous Flight Auger          • At Completion (open hole)ft.          DC - Driving Casing MD - Mud Drilling CU - Cuttings         CT - Continuous Tube          ¥ After hoursft.          Page 1 of 1																	
Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       Boring Method         SS - Driven Split Spoon          • Noted on Drilling Tools         • ft.       HSA - Hollow Stem Augers         ST - Pressed Shelby Tube          • At Completion (in augers)         • ft.          • CFA - Continuous Flight Auger         • At Completion (open hole)         • ft.          • DC - Driving Casing         • MD - Mud Drilling         • MD -																	
Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       Boring Method         SS - Driven Split Spoon          • Noted on Drilling Tools         ft.           HSA - Hollow Stem Augers          ST - Pressed Shelby Tube          • At Completion (in augers)         ft.           ft.           HSA - Hollow Stem Augers          CA - Continuous Flight Auger          • At Completion (open hole)         ft.           ft.           DC - Driving Casing         MD - Mud Drilling          CU - Cuttings          ¥ After         hours         ft.           ft.           Page 1 of 1																	
Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       Boring Method         SS - Driven Split Spoon <ul> <li>Noted on Drilling Tools</li> <li>ft.</li> <li>HSA - Hollow Stem Augers</li> <li>CFA - Continuous Flight Auger</li> <li>At Completion (in augers)</li> <li>ft.</li> <li>DC - Driving Casing</li> <li>MD - Mud Drilling</li> </ul> CU - Cuttings         Image: After																	
Sample Type       Depth to Groundwater       Boring Method         SS - Driven Split Spoon       Noted on Drilling Tools       ft.       HSA - Hollow Stem Augers         ST - Pressed Shelby Tube       At Completion (in augers)       ft.       CFA - Continuous Flight Auger         CA - Continuous Flight Auger       At Completion (open hole)       ft.       DC - Driving Casing         RC - Rock Core       After       hours       ft.       MD - Mud Drilling         CU - Cuttings       X After       hours       ft.       Page 1 of 1																	
SS - Driven Split Spoon       ● Noted on Drilling Tools       ft.       HSA - Hollow Stem Augers         ST - Pressed Shelby Tube       ▲ At Completion (in augers)       ft.       CFA - Continuous Flight Augers         CA - Continuous Flight Auger       ➡ At Completion (open hole)       ft.       DC - Driving Casing         RC - Rock Core       ➡ After       hours       ft.       MD - Mud Drilling         CU - Cuttings       ➡ After       hours       ft.       Page 1 of 1	Sample Typ	00		De	oth to C	Groun	dwate	er							Bo	pring Method	
CA - Continuous Flight Auger     Image: S	SS - Driven Split Sp ST - Pressed Shelt	poon oy Tube	• N	loted or	n Drillin	g Too	ols derev		ft ++	t. •			ł	HSA CFA	- Hol - Cor	low Stem Augers	
CU - Cuttings     Image: After	CA - Continuous Fl	ight Auger		t Comp	pletion (	open	hole	)	ft	 t.			]		- Driv	/ing Casing	
CT - Continuous Tube   After hours ft.  Page 1 of 1  Cave Depth	CU - Cuttings		¥ A	fter		hour	's _		ft	t.			r	עוע	- 1110	טוווויט	
	CT - Continuous Tu	ube	¥ A ⊮a (	tter	enth	hour	's		ft ft	t. t.					Ρ	age <b>1</b> of <b>1</b>	



LIENT	TIG Real Es	state							BOR	ING #_	В	8-19				
PROJECT NAME     Northern Crossing West       PROJECT LOCATION     SEC Loop 820 & I-35W									JOB # 74.27982.0001 DRAWN BY JT							
	Fort Worth,	, ТХ							APP	ROVED	в <u>ү <b>S</b></u>	MG				
	DRILLING and SA	MPLING INFORMA	TION		_						т	EST D/	٩ΤΑ			
Date Started	11/16/06	Hammer Wt.		140	lbs.											
Date Completed	11/16/06	Hammer Drop		30	in.											
Drill Foreman	JC	Spoon Sampler C	DD	2	in.											
Inspector	KD	Rock Core Dia.		-	in.				E	jt	л.					
Boring Method	CFA	Shelby Tube OD		3	in.		hics		foot	treng	mete	int %		۲ ا		
<u> </u>			1			be	Graph	ter	ene lows	onfir ive S	netro	tonte	ut (LL	lit (PI		
SOIL CLASSIFICATION			<u>e</u>	le Ty	ler G /ery (	idwat	ard F N - bl	f Uno	t Per	Ire C	Limi	C Lim	ş			
SURF	ACE ELEVATION 62	1.7 FT MSL	Stratu Depth	Depth Scale	Samp No.	Samp	Samp Recov	Groun	Stand Test, I	Qu-tsf Comp	PP-tsf Pocke	Moistu	Liquid	Plastic	Rema	
TOPSOIL Cla	y with Organics and	Roots	1.0	-	1	ST										
CLAY, Hard, I	Brown with Calcareou	us Nodules, Moist		-		-										
					2	ST						14.4				
				-	3	ST										
				5												
Light Brow	n at 6.0 Feet			-	4	ST										
			85		-							17.9				
	Tan, Weathered		9.5	-		THD									50=2.00"	
<u>CLAY</u> , Tan ar	d Gray, Calcareous	with Bentonite		10 -	1						4.5+	17.0	50	22	50=1.25" PI = 28	
Seams and Li	mesione noquies			-	5	ST										
				-												
			145	-												
	Tan Weathered with	Clay Seams and	14.5	15 -		THD	-					14.3			50=0.125"	
Layers				-							4.0				50=0.00"	
			18.0	-	-											
	Gray		10.0	-		THD									50=0.75"	
				20 -								9.5			50=0.00"	
				-												
End of Boring	at 23 Feet. No grou	ndwater was	23.0	-		THD									50=0.50"	
encountered.	0.00														50=0.00"	
Sample Tvr	)e		Dei	pth to C	I Groun	dwate	r Pr						L	Bo	pring Method	
SS - Driven Split S	— poon by Tube	<u>•</u> N	Noted or	n Drillin	g Too	ols _	_	ft				I	HSA	- Hol	low Stem Augers	
CA - Continuous F	light Auger	<u>ま</u> A 及 A	At Comp At Comr	letion	in au open	gers)		ft ft				l		- Cor - Driv	/ing Casing	
RC - Rock Core CU - Cuttings		¥ A	After		hour	s		ft	-			I	ИD	- Mu	a Drilling	
CT - Continuous T	ube	¥ A	After	nth	hour	's		ft						Ρ	age <b>1</b> of <b>1</b>	



CLIENT TIG Real Estate									BORING #								
PROJECT NAME Northern Crossing West									JOB # 74.27982.0001								
PROJECT LOCATION SEC Loop 820 & I-35W									DRAWN BY <b>JT</b>								
Fort Worth, TX									APPROVED BY <b>SMG</b>								
	.TION						TEST DATA										
Date Started	11/16/06	Hammer Wt.		140	lbs.												
Date Completed	11/16/06	Hammer Drop		30	in.												
Drill Foreman	JC	C Spoon Sampler (			DD <u><b>2</b></u> in.												
Inspector KD Rock Core Dia.			-	in.				Б.,	gth	e	. 0						
Boring Method Shelby Tube OD		<b>3_</b> in		hics	3	etratic s/foot	bed	omete	ent %	<u>-</u>	_ت						
						ype	Grap	ater	Pene	confi sive (	enetro	Conte	jit (L	nit (F			
SOIL CLASSIFICATION		E c	Ξo	ble		oler G very	ndwa	dard   N - b	of Und	et Pe	ture C	d Lim	ic Lin	arks			
SURFA	ACE ELEVATION 61	5.0 FT MSL	Strat	Dept Scale	Sam No.	Sam	Sam	Grou	Stan Test,	Com ts	PP-ts Pock	Mois	Liqui	Plast	Rem		
FILL, Clay Dar	rk Brown			-	1	ST											
100				-		-					4.5+	23.6					
			3.5		2	ST					2.0						
CLAY, Hard, I	Dark Brown, Moist			-		0.7					4.5+	45.0	50	22			
				5 —	3	51					4.5+	15.2	58	23	PI = 35		
				-	4	ST					4.5+						
				-	L .						1.01	16.3					
				-	-						2.0						
			-	-						_							
Light Brown with Limestone Pieces at 10.0 Feet				10 -	5	ST					3.0						
				-	-												
					1												
				-	1												
				15								18.1					
				- 15	6	ST					4.5						
				-													
						THD											
				-													
			20.0	20 -	-										50=0.50"		
	Tan, Weathered			-											50=0.00"		
			22.5	-		THD											
LIMESTONE,	Gray with occasiona	I Shale Seams		-	1												
]T]				-	}							12.0					
Seepage at	t 24.8	[	25.0	25 —	-			<b>1</b>				13.0			50-0.75"		
End of Boring	at 25 Feet. Seepage	e at 24.8 Feet,													50=0.50"		
Sample Tvp	De		Dei	oth to C	Groun	dwate	er	1		1	1		I	Bo	pring Method		
SS - Driven Split S	poon	≜ N	loted or	n Drillin	g Too	ols _	24.	<u>8</u> ft				ł	HSA	- Hol	low Stem Augers		
SI - Pressed Shell CA - Continuous FI	At Completion (in augers)						ft. CFA - Continuous F DC - Driving Casin						ntinuous Flight Augers ving Casing				
RC - Rock Core	At Completion (open hole) f						ft. MD - Mud Drilling						d Drilling				
CU - Cuttings CT - Continuous Tu	ube	¥ A ¥ A	fter _		hour	s _		ft						D	ade <b>1</b> of 1		
		Tea C	ave De	pth		_	25.	<b>0</b> _ft						P			